Navigating Ambivalence and Exile: A Multidimensional Analysis of Migration

in Amitav Ghosh's The Shadow Lines

By

Karima Khatun Prima

ID: 20103057

A thesis submitted to the Department of English and Humanities in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Arts in English

The Department of English and Humanities BRAC University Jan 2024

© 2024 BRAC University All rights reserved.

Declaration

It is hereby declared that

1. The thesis submitted is my/our own original work while completing a degree at BRAC University.

2. The thesis does not contain material previously published or written by a third party, except where this is appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.

3. The thesis does not contain material which has been accepted, or submitted, for any other

degree or diploma at a university or other institution.

4. I/We have acknowledged all main sources of help.

Student's Full Name & Signature:

Karima Khatun Prima ID: 20103057

Approval

The thesis titled **Navigating Ambivalence and Exile: a Multidimensional Analysis of Migration in Amitav Ghosh's** *The Shadow Lines* submitted by Karima Khatun Prima ID: (20103057) has been accepted as satisfactory in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Arts in English.

Examining Committee:

Supervisor:

(Member)

Mohammad Zaki Rezwan Senior Lecturer, Department of English and Humanities BRAC University

External Examiner: (Member)

Samirah Tabassum Lecturer, Department of English and Humanities BRAC University

Departmental Head: (Chair)

> Professor Firdous Azim Professor and Chairperson, Department of English and Humanities BRAC University

Prima | iv

Abstract

The intricate interplay of Ambivalence and Exile are central themes in Amitav Ghosh's novel *The Shadow Lines*. Through a multidimensional analysis, it explores the multifaceted nature of migration in the narrative. This research aims to shed light on how characters navigate the complexities of ambivalence, both at the personal and societal levels, while experiencing various forms of exile. At the same time, how economic realities drive migration decisions among the complexities of ambivalence and exile. Then, religion was used to create two nations while providing advantages to political leaders. Explore the characters and memories of places intertwined due to their migratory experiences and examine the effect of ambivalence in shaping their memories. Therefore, the emotional memory, cultural displacement, and geopolitical dimension of migration seek an understanding of the character's journey and the broader implications of migration in the post-colonial context. This paper critically analyzes the data to show how migration from a split nation affects people's lives negatively, leading to conflict and identity loss.

Keywords: Colonialism, Post-colonialism, Indian sub-continent, Ambivalence, Exile, Migration, Economics, Politics.

Dedication

I am dedicating this to the Prima of today. It has been much harder compared to my expectations. I do not know what the future holds for me, but this will always remain among my biggest achievements. This work is dedicated to my whole family: the happiness of my life.

Maa, this is yours....

Prima | vi

Acknowledgement

I want to sincerely thank Almighty Allah for all the blessings in my life. Allah always made everything work out in the end, despite all the ups and downs. I am appreciative of this life and the opportunities it has given me.

I would want to thank my supervisor, Mohammad Zaki Rezwan, sir. Even though I was frequently confused, he understood my difficulties and was kind enough to lead me through the first semester. It is an honour to have worked with him to begin and complete this.

I also want to thank my family, without whom I could not have progressed as far as I have without their unwavering support. Throughout this journey, my family has been there for me at every turn, supporting me through my struggles and celebrating my victories with me. Thank you, Maa and Baba, for allowing me to mature and for embracing me for who I am despite social sigmas. I will never be able to fully compensate you for your unselfish sacrifices. Thank you to my dearest friend Fariha, Saif to show me the path when I was lost also I am very thankful to Nizbath, Sifat, Ananda and all of my other closest friends for supporting me, loving and caring for me, and understanding me.

Table of Contents

Declaration	ii
Approval	iii
Abstract	iv
Dedication	V
Acknowledgement	vi
Table of Content	vii
Introduction	1
Research Questions, Theories and Method	5
Literature Review	8
Chapter 1: Navigating Ambivalence in Post-colonial Identity Terrain	26
Identity crisis and ambivalence	27
Ila and the narrator's ambivalence and identity	31
Psychological influence of ambivalence	34
Chapter 2: Unraveling violence through religion, exile and ambivalence	
Violence through religion	40
Identity dynamics and scared displacement	42
Chapter 3: Generation conflict	48
Lost Generation	48
Conflict with Ila, the narrator and Thamma	51
Conflict with Tridib and Thamma	54
Chapter 4: Interwoven Threads: History, Migration, and Economic Dynamics	58
Conclusion	64
Works Cited	68

Introduction

The Shadow Lines by Amitav Ghosh is a novel that explores the complexities of migration. The writer provides a complex novel that combines individual experiences with wider socio-political environments. This novel was first published in 1988. It is renowned for examining subjects such as boundaries, identity, and the effects of historical events on individual lives. The complex novel delves deeply into the psychological and political effects of crossing borders by entwining postcolonial themes of an identity crisis, displacement, ambivalence, and cross-cultural memories. "Postcolonial issues such as identity crisis, displacement, immigration, ambivalence, cross-culture memories, and the psychological and political ramifications of crossing borders have been extensively explored by academics and critics in the Humanities as an interdisciplinary field since the turn of the 20th century" (Mondal, 2023).

In the novel, an unnamed narrator reflects on his family's past, relationship, and the lasting effects of the Swadeshi, World War II, and the Bengal partition, this is set against the backdrop of Bangladesh, East Pakistan, and India. Memories unfold through the narrative, following the narrator's path of self-discovery and his relationship with other characters, such as Tridib, Ila, May, and Nick. Furthermore, the title *The Shadow Lines* reflected the separation of geographical and emotional levels. The impact of political borders on private life is reflected in the novel's exploration of the shadowy boundaries that form individual and social identities.

The narrator divides this novel into two sections, "Going Away" and Coming Home," which recounts the narrator's childhood experiences in Calcutta and his education in Delhi. It then turns on to discuss his experience in London. The unnamed narrator of the book describes a number of experiences, such as the experience of creating a new nation and nationalism, border politics, a sense of not belonging, the disillusionment and vision of three generations worth of families due to migration and displacement, and communal riots that claimed the life of his uncle Tridib.

Migration emerges as a central theme of this novel. Ghosh employs a multidimensional approach to dissect the complexities of this phenomenon. The protagonist in this novel struggles with ambivalence, a condition of contradictory emotions when the characters leave their homeland. Ambivalence is deeply connected with the concept of Exile, which states that people are forced to live outside of their nations because of social turmoil, political upheavals, or personal decisions. The characters' journeys represent the complex relationship between the need for a better life and the emotional bonds that connect them to their origins. One of the important concepts of the story is the relationship between the unnamed narrator and the other characters. The central character Tridib acts as a bridge between the characters and the historical occasions that influence their lives. His travel experience and the borders he crossed serve as metaphors for the more general issues of migrations and the blurred lines between nations. However, the character's struggles to balance their unique personalities with the political and cultural context in which they live heavily influence the novel's romantic and familial relationships. The character's complex emotions and cultural quirks are vividly conveyed in Ghosh's words. By depicting migration as a multidimensional experience that incorporates personal, political, and historical aspects, the novel challenges readers to reflect on the complexity of migration.

In addition, *The Shadow Lines* also examines postcolonial identity. The novel delicately explores how colonialism's after-effects continue to influence the characters' self-perceptions and interpersonal interactions as the lives of the characters take place in the wake of colonial

control. Nationalism and the long-term impact of historical events on both individual and societal identities are issues that the novel's characters struggle with. Further, Ghosh's deep examination of exile, ambivalence, and migration provides readers with a multidimensional understanding of the intricacies of the character's experience. Moreover, through the lens of personal and political motivations, the novel delves into the blurred lines of postcolonial identity, inviting readers to traverse shadowy landscapes of history, memory, and the human spirit.

The journey where the characters struggle with mixed feelings and displacement, reveals the complex relationship between personal and political reasons for their migration. Post-colonialism, religion, nationality, and generation all add dimensions to this novel influencing the individual's identities and response to historical events. Characters experience mixed emotions when they leave their native countries, this feeling of uncertainty is called Ambivalence. They also experience exile, being separated from their nation. This dual experience turns into a potent lens through which to reflect on their choices, hardships, and nuanced reasons behind the migration. Further, Personal lives are influenced by borders when nationality is taken into consideration. The characters, spanning India, London, and Bangladesh, face the effects of historical occurrences such as the Bengal partition, which shape their sense of national identity. At the same time, experience an identity crisis and lose their native nationality.

In terms of religion, the characters often divided between Hindus and Muslims, navigate the tensions that shape their relationships. Religion differences have a tremendous influence on migration, which is not merely a physical relocation, as demonstrated by the communal rioting that occurred during the Bengal partition. However, Generational perspectives play a significant path because they illustrate the various ways that different age groups migrate.

Older generations, marked by the trauma of partition, carry distinct memories, that influence their worldview. On the other hand, the younger generation faces distinct difficulties that are indicative of shifting perspectives on boundaries and national identity.

Postcolonialism, an important theme, explores the aftermath of colonial rule. One key idea in postcolonialism analysis is the effects of colonial control. As boundaries and identities are connected to a colonial past, the characters struggle with the effects of colonization. This topic demonstrates how the characters' identities and interactions are still subtly shaped by historical events. The shadow lines are essentially a tapestry of migration experiences, intricately woven with layers of nationality, reality, religion, generation, economy and postcolonialism. In a world of shifting boundaries, historical legacies, and the never-ending relationship between individual aspirations and the large socio-political backdrop, Ghosh's novel readers to consider the flexible nature of identity. Demonstrating economic disparities in people's lives is crucial due to political unrest that fuels violence and migration. The character's migration, driven by ambivalence and exile in Amitav Ghosh's novel, deftly combines political and personal motives. In this paper, with a detailed and comprehensive analysis, I intend to demonstrate how the characters deal with the effects of politics, religion, nationality, culture, and economics. Within this paper, the research has been conducted on how the migration in the novel has been depicted in the characters' lives leading to the conflict of nations and identity crisis. Adding to that, the paper also delves into the concept of exile drawing to the idea of ambivalence that changes individuals' lives. Although the novel is mostly studied from diasporic and migration perspectives, I argue that the chaos and conflicts regarding the character's life are more political than personal. In this paper, a vivid comparison has been made between the character's experience and the lost generation to get a nuanced understanding of the complex effects historical events such as migration have on them.

Research Questions, Theories and Method, Literature Review

Research questions

1. How does the political dimension of migration in the novel emphasize that the chaos and conflicts in the characters' lives are more political than personal?

2. In what way does the novel connect with the lost generation and its connection to the character's experience of migration, shedding light on the complex effects of historical events on their identity crisis?

3. How does the novel "The Shadow Lines" depict the complicated interplay among migration, historical occurrences, and economic dynamics that resulted in the inequalities and complex of the lives of the characters?

Methodology

This paper primarily relies on a journal article, research papers and the novel *The Shadow Lines* to construct a qualitative analytical study. The secondary materials contribute structure and support to the arguments, enabling a thorough examination of themes relevant to the research questions. This paper employs a close reading of the primary text, engaging in a comparative study utilizing philosophical concepts and literary theory to enhance the depth of analysis.

Theories

Amitav Ghosh's novel *The Shadow Lines* develops into the complexities of migration, identity, crisis, and historical events. These themes are explored through a variety of theoretical lenses, including Gayatri Spivak's post-colonialism and psychoanalytic theory, Erik Erikson's identity crisis theory, Homi Bhabha's perception of ambivalence, Edward

Said's exile, Sigmund Freud's ego or unconsciousness, two nation theory, and the concepts Lost Generation coined by Gertrude Stein. By providing insights into the psychological, cultural, and political aspects of the character's experiences, these theoretical stances enhance the research's depth and subtlety. In the novel, Partha Chatterjee's gender theory and Erik Erikson's identity crisis frameworks converge to shape economic dynamics through generational conflicts, migration, and personal conflict. The economic environment is famed by Patnaik's critique of imperialistic exploitation, Marx's class conflict, and Engelsian historical materialism, which uncovers the enduring inequalities produced by colonialism

Rationale

This research critically analyzes how migration is portrayed in Amitav Ghosh's novel The Shadow Lines, emphasizing how it has a significant impact on the lives of the characters and causes identity issues and national conflicts. The idea of ambivalence and exile as lifechanging experiences is examined in this paper. The theories contend that the instability and tensions shown in the novel are fundamentally more political than personal in the prevalence of diasporic and migration themes. By uncovering and examining previously unnoticed elements like generational conflict and economic inequalities within the novel, this research adds a new dimension to the analysis. The research aims to provide a nuanced understanding of the complex effects of historical events like migration on individuals by making a striking parallel between the experiences of the characters and the idea of the Lost Generation. In addition to addressing current viewpoints on migration and diaspora, the study offers a new perspective that broadens the analysis's focus. A new perspective on the intricacies of the relationship and points of view in the novel is offered by the presence of generation conflict and economic inequality. Deftly combines economics, migration, and history in The Shadow Lines to reveal the nuanced aspects of the lives of the individuals. Analyzing economic theories helps us better comprehend postcolonial issues by shedding light on both societal and personal concerns. The paper presents a comprehensive and sophisticated analysis that advanced our knowledge of the intricate impacts of historical events and migration on individuals within the postcolonial framework depicted in the novel by combining generation conflict and economic inequality.

Literature Review

The countries that have been colonized have experienced loss and deprivation throughout their history, including the loss of their political and economic sovereignty and their vital self-recognition. "The colonized nations found themselves in a whirlwind during the colonial era, where their fundamental identity was threatened by the colonizers' ruthless political and economic domination over them, forcing them to fuse their identities into some other, "bigger" identity that they don't truly fit into" (Das, 2022). The nations thus experienced a certain amount of anxiety when they were freed from the grip of the colonizers and had to forge an independent political and socio-cultural identity. On the one hand, they had to find or preserve the foundation of their original identity. However, the effects of the colonial era continued to be felt strongly, making identity formation difficult for them. "Identity development was more problematically affected than one might think by immigration, hybridization, and cultural diversity" (Das, 2022).

The novel's central theme is the struggle with identity. Places and settings are impacted by identity as well as characters. The narrative asserts that memories can be evoked by tales, pictures, maps and one's imagination. It is typically used to shape and build the identity of a place. "Imagination seems to be a psychological mechanism that allows one to indulge repressed desires that they have been longing for successfully but unable to satisfy in the real world. "Essentialism" and "Alterity" are two other significant terms of post-colonialism potentially involved in identity" (Kasikhan, 2015).

"Essentialism involves all parties colonizer and colonized resisting their points of view. Despite the small number of characters in the novel, most of them tend to uphold their status quo. They are rarely willing to accept change or even make a decision from a variety of possibilities" (Kasikhan,2015). Therefore, it can be described as a component of defiance, resistance, and confrontation to obtain or select what they feel is rightfully theirs. Tridib says "Everyone lives in a story because stories are all there to live in, it was just a question of which one you choose.." (Ghosh, 182).

"The concept of alterity in the novel has two distinct interpretations, it is more similar to the idea of ambivalence, which is another component of postcolonial writings. Being other does not always imply being distinct or unlike. It can also refer to "another identical image." The use of a mirror in the story challenges the perceived distinctions between Dhaka and Calcutta, as recently formed nations" (Kasikhan, 2015). Dhaka and Calcutta, these two cities and social structures are so similar that one can conclude that the other is also observed by simply observing one. Travelling without a passport or identity card was once possible, as demonstrated by the border of the looking glass, which draws attention to the parallels between Calcutta and Dhaka.

The shadow line investigates how people are constantly displaced. Their ancestors forced them into eternal exile-remember, envision, and recreate their homes, building on the traditional Bengali animosity against houses and homes. "When home and loss are narrated, fact and fiction suggest that the exilic memory which Rushdie likens to fragments of broken mirrors creates a new reality that might not be all that similar to historical accounts but instead does more than just recapture the past." (Bharat, 2004). Although it also implies that exile is a universal, permanent state, the recalled home in both works ensures that the present is infused with the past, and that loss can be transformed into gain. Sudha Rai states that the "Country of Exile" provided a milieu they found lacking at home, with particular emphasis on its "intellectual life" for diasporic writers. Characters in *The Shadow Lines* share experiences that are consistent with Edward Said's exile theory, which examines forced

removal from one 's native land. The novel illustrates how people deal with migration, partition, and the subsequent sensation of displacement, which is the line with Said's observations about the psychological and cultural effects of exile.

"When it comes to migration or displacement, the idea of home is undoubtedly the most significant. Being away from their roots and place of residence causes them to feel like homeless people" (Srivastava, 2016). According to Guruprasad S. Y., "the theme of identity and lost home, along with nostalgia and memory, play a significant role in exploring the theme of an original home." The desire for a place to call home and a sense of belonging, as well as the suffering that comes with being uprooted and dislocated, are themes that Shadow Lines introduces. David Brook's book Cultural Controversies and Literary Landscape: Diasporic Identities and Empire states the following: "Amitav Ghosh extensively explores the idea of home and homelessness in his novels. Almost every character in the Shadow Lines experiences some form of homelessness". "Moreover, "the novel's larger project of culture accommodation, which seeks adaption to the demands of an increasingly multicultural world and makes sense of ontological ambiguity in complex spatiality, is endorsed, or rather validated, by the cross-border movement of immigrants in the context of an increasingly globalized scenario."(Prasad, 2008)." The post-British era's shifting political situation cannot be concerned by the character Thamma" (Wadud, 2014). She is still "trapped in the space of her pre-national identity."(Gera, 2003). She has no idea what "the modern border" is, or that it is "real but political" (Gera,2003).

In The Shadow Lines, homelessness and homecoming are the fundamental occurrences that impede the lives of the characters. Similar views were expressed by Leela Gandhi in postcolonial Theory, where she states that "It is also very pertinent to note that "diasporic thought finds its apotheosis in the ambivalent, transitory, culturally contaminated and borderline figure of the exile, caught in a historical limbo between home and the world." Considering the cross-culture connotations, the sense of home becomes more apparent. "The novel's characters, Ila and her grandmother, from different generations of migrant women, effectively convey this cross-cultural incongruity and contamination. Except for the constructed home for the former and the abandoned one for the latter, neither of them truly has a home, Tha'mma and Ila each have different types of intricacy and sensitivity regarding home. "The reality of borders and demarcation, and how they affect the Bengali people, the traumatized state of the populace after communal riots, the identity crisis of the populace, the diasporic sensibility, the cross-cultural memories, the feelings of nation and nationalism, and other sociopolitical and historical events of the era have all been portrayed by Ghosh" (Mondal, 2023).

"Trauma is a word that accurately characterizes the consequences of the Indian subcontinent's separation. After the Indian subcontinent was divided, it appeared as though it were a single, sick body that needed to be served to receive treatment" (Rani, 2022). In the "Coming Home" section in *The Shadow Lines* by Ghosh, the narrative explores the character's return to their homeland, delving into complexities of identity, belonging, and the blurred lines between personal and political realms. "The character Thamma states, "Whether the border between East Pakistan and India was visible to her on the map. "Whether she could see the border between India and East Pakistan from the plan. Surely, there is something - trenches perhaps, soldiers, guns pointing at each other, or even barren stripes of land. Don't they call it no-man's land?" (Ghosh, 151). The narrator's father told her she might see some green fields, and her answer captures the tragic irony of exclusive nationalism in the period after independence. She said if there is nothing in between, then "Where the differences then? If there are no differences, both sides will be the same.... What is all for then- partition and all the killing and everything?". (Ghosh, 151). This section offers a moving analysis of the

characters' experiences as they struggle with the concept of "home" in the context of historical and geopolitical changes. However, Thamma's sense of belonging to a home has vanished before her eyes. She experiences a certain amount of disempowerment rooted in the concept of freedom. Because freedom is the ultimate goal that every character aspires to in the novel.

The idea that a nation is defined by its physical borders is a common and hegemonic decision made in national discourse. People may share language, culture, religion, customs, ethnicity, history, and anthems within these boundaries. "The word "nation" has its etymological roots in the Latin word "nation," which implies "that which has been born." However, is that really what a modern nation is or should be? Is there room for diversity in such a nation? Based on demography, primarily religious, the partition saw daylight because of exactly this" (Gulgader, 2017). However, the partition was approved due to demographic factors, particularly religious beliefs.

The mnemonic account that our protagonist gives us to a certain extent, is primarily based on Tridib's unreliable experience. Further, the pragmatic information provided by Ila and Tha'mma, the narrator can "form a part of my secret map of the world, a map of which only I know the keys and coordinates, but which was not for that reason anymore imaginary than the code of a state to a banker"(Ghosh, 238). Tridib gives him an "eye to see with," but Ila describes the several locations she has travelled to worldwide. "The more dogmatic or pragmatic interpretation of the "east or west " "home is best" philosophy is represented by Tha'mma. Together, these secular accounts form the epistemological and ontological self of the narrator"(Gulgader, 2017). He embodies the same dichotomy of nationalistic discourses that India does, torn between reverence for Tha'mma, admiration for Tridib, and an enduring but unfulfilled love for Ila.

Violence between religious groups erupted in the aftermath of the Indian subcontinent's independence and partition due to the desire for a nation-state, or unity of people, culture, and territory. Not only are there many different language groups in the region that the British occupied, but also several major religious groups, the most prominent of which are Islam and Hinduism, though there are other notable minorities. "In seven years, religion overshadows and replaces all other potential markers of culture and, consequently, national unity and belonging through a process that is still the topic of intense dispute among scholars and commentators today" (Peeters, 2008).

Upon independence, the newly formed nation-states of Hindu India and Muslim Pakistan launched a bloody strategy of mirrored and reciprocal religious purification. "Thamma is herself a victim of this violence when she goes back to her childhood home in Dhaka. She eventually makes her home in Calcutta, which is located across the recently drawn national border. An underlying contradiction is shown. She reveals a profound paradox in her response to this forced migration" (Peeters, 2008). After partition, the two new states tried to establish by being interrupted by riots. According to Isabella Bruschi, "The Indian subcontinent was rocked by communal hostility in 1947. This ghost of hatred keeps coming back and sparking new violent eruptions. Persistent conflict has plagued the lives of the Sikh, Hindu, and Muslim communities." religious tension between these two countries has disrupted the partition. "Due to violence between Hindus and Muslims, India, a country predominately Hindu, was divided into two distinct nations after gaining independence from Britain: India and Pakistan" (Jia, 2012). "The subsequent chaos and the carnage claimed between 500,000 and 2 million lives were lost. There were 80,000 abducted girls. Over disputed territory in Kasmir, India and Pakistan have fought three wars (1947, 1965, and 1999) since that time. (Phillips,n.d)

When discussing the history of the Indian subcontinent's split, it is impossible to ignore the contributions and labor of Muhammad Ali Jinnah, Allama Iqbal, and Sir Syed Ahamed Khan. "The "Two-nation theory" Was developed by Sir Syed Ahamed Khan, and Allama Iqbal and envisioned a Muslim country that Auhammad Ali Jinnah established" (Hassan, 2020). "The political figures named above have always advocated for a unified India, minority rights, and distinct electorates for Muslims. They have never supported a separate homeland for Muslims. However, they were compelled to reconsider and make a critical choice in order to protect the future of Muslims who were depending on them because of the historical events known as the "Hindu Urdu Controversy" and the "Congress Ministry." (Ikram 2005).

"Jinnah highlights that the Muslim League was the only political party dedicated to representing Muslim issues in India. He claims that Muslims felt deceived during the 1937 elections and that their interest was not sufficiently taken care of. There were concerns that Hindus would control the constituent assembly and govern independent India's politics, which led to calls for a break from Congress" (Phillips,n.d)

"Thamma cannot be held responsible for the disruption she experienced because it was caused by the Muslims and their mulish demand for their state. The fact that Muslims demanded their state because Hindus insisted that the nascent nation-state of India be Hindu would never be acknowledged by Thamma." (Peeters, 2008). "The All-India Muslim League and the Congress lost their opportunity to create a coalition government before the 1937 elections. However, once Congress won the elections, they were so conceited and arrogant that they refused to reach a consensus with the Muslims" (Hassan, 2020). The congress showed Muslims what Hindu raj, or rule, or rule, would entail by treating them cruelly. The Indian Muslims were not well-served by the congress ministries. However, "they unified under the banner of the All-Indian Muslim League, which made it apparent that the only path

to take was independence from Hindu dominance and the removal of the British from the Indian subcontinent" (Ikram 2005). "The great freedom fighter Jawaharlal Nehru gave the nation a secular economic underpinning and a global perspective on a reasonable and contemporary basis. He also establishes the groundwork for our democracy and secularism" (Sing, 2011). Nehru was against the idea of dividing the nation according to religious beliefs. "In June 1947 he had to come to terms with it as an unavoidable fact. India and Pakistan were established as two distinct, sovereign countries on August 15, 1947" (Sing, 2011).

"Ghosh portrayal of riots is how they are consistently presented as a subversion of relationships and daily life" (Capitani, 2020). In the classic Freudian sense, riots are uncanny because they turn the familiar into a perverted version of itself. The distinct loneliness resulting from battle anxiety is reminiscent of Freud's idea of the uncanny, setting apart the people of the subcontinent and highlighting the psychological effects of communal violence. "Concern at the knowledge that normalcy is entirely arbitrary is what led to the community riots' terror. The thing that separates the thousand million people who live in the subcontinent from the rest of the world is not food or music, but rather a particular form of loneliness that results from a fear of clash with one's reflection in the mirror." (Sircar, 1991).

"Shrines have developed to represent Kashmir's own culture over time. The Mu-i-Mubarak vanished from Kashmir Two hundred and sixty-three years after it was introduced there." (Srivastava, 2016). "There was not a single instance of hostility between Kashmiri Muslims, Hindus, and Sikhs in the entire valley, the narrator emphasizes, despite the multiple black-flag protests, in which every building and shop flew a black flag, and every individual on the streets wore a black armband in protest of Mu-i-Munbarak's demise. " (Capitani, 2020). The psychoanalytic theory of Sigmund Freud, which examines how the unconscious mind shapes behaviour, enriches the examination of characters in *The Shadow Lines*. Migrations and

identity crises of characters reveal needs and conflicts that are hidden, which is consistent with Freud's investigation into the role of the subconscious in determining behaviour. Ila, for example, reflects subconscious processes influenced by cultural tension and migration experiences in her challenges with belonging in London and her Dual identity. These psychological intricacies can be understood with the help of Freud's theory.

"In The Shadow Lines, two generations of immigrant women Thamma and Ila become symbols of many nationalities and promises that globalization has made commonplace belied" (Singh, 2018). "Teenagers cherish their independence, yet there are elders in every community who try to control the younger generation. The youth now want to construct a new world that is more in line with their dreams and sincere convictions as a result of their rebellion against the existing order." (Sarve, 2021). In challenging the definition of freedom, Ghosh directs us to the translational space where, in the words of Homi Bhabha, "culture becomes a problem": this is the moment at which the conflicts and articulations of day-to-day existence between classes, genders, races, nations, and generations lose their significance. Prominent postcolonial theories Homi Bhabha presents the idea of the "third space," also known as the "Translational space," emphasizing the interaction of cultures and the difficulties in negotiating meaning. This is where cultures collide and converge, posing issues with societal structures, power relationships, and identity. Bhabha'a theoretical frameworks underscore the intricacy of cross-culture interactions, particularly within postcolonial settings where the contested interpretations of daily existence materialize at the nexus of multiple social categories, including class, gender, race, nationality, and generation. Since these spaces reveal the ambiguities and tensions that are present in cross-cultural relationships, the dynamics inside them create a "problem". Aligned with Bhabha's concepts, Ghosh encourages readers to delve into the complex web of cultural negotiations, illuminating the multitude of obstacles that people and societies encounter when attempting to negotiate a variety of contested locations.

The study of generational conflict, migration, and cultural identity in *The Shadow Lines* is related to Partha Chatterjee's theories, specifically his definitions of "civil society" and " Political society" from The National and Its Fragments: Colonial and Postcolonial Histories. The theories of Chatterjee offer a prism through which we can examine generational disputes, identity dynamics, and the effects of past events on family dynamics. In postcolonial situations, Chatterjee makes a distinction between "Political Society" and "civil society." Civil society refers to the realm of the personal and ordinary, where identities and cultural practices are contested. The term political society designates the realm of formal politics and the state. The general struggle in the novel relates to immigration and cultural identity and can be understood as a negotiation taking place in traditions that are ingrained in a particular sense of national identity. The younger generations, on the other hand, negotiate cultural borders within civil society because of their more global outlook.

The novel's generation conflict is fundamentally discussed inside civil society, as demonstrated by Chatterjee's theory. Influenced by migration, historical occurrences such as the partition, and exposure to global influences, the characters from several generations navigate their cultural identities. Although younger generations negotiate their identities within civil society, dhamma's adherence to traditional values indicates a sort of cultural anchor in political society. The theories of Chatterjee are also useful in understanding how globalisation affects cultural identities. The narrator and IIa, among other younger characters, traverse a world that is more fluid and interwoven, mirroring the cultural conflicts that take place within civil society. Through the experiences of the characters in London, the novel illustrates how globalization compares conventional cultural borders, resulting in disputes and misunderstandings. Further, Chatterjee's focus on the negotiation of cultural identities in civil society is consistent with the character's challenges in identifying with their country and origin. While the younger characters, who have been exposed the global influences, negotiate their identities within the shifting landscape of civil society. Thamma's loyalty to Dhaka and the older, unchanging cultural identities can be understood as an expression of political society.

In the narrative, Ila's criticism of patriarchal gender conversations and Thamma's vision of liberation from colonial imprisonment collide. It is clear from this complicated gender tension that both characters identify freedom with either nationalism or metropolitan cosmopolitanism. It reveals complex gender conflicts. "Thamma's notion and freedom as liberty from colonial subjection reject Ila's internal critics of dominant Indian patriarchal gender relationships and her desire for personal freedom, also demonstrates that for both, the source of freedom is either the nation or a migrant, metropolitan cosmopolitanism" (Sing, 2018). "Thamma refers to Illa as a whore and believes she has damaged her grandson, and this hostility culminates in a postmortem hatred for the narrator. She genuinely believes in the use of violence to build nationhood; there is no Gandhian pacifism at work here. What the opposition indicates is that life in independent India is a process that is essentially gendered" (Sing, 2018). Living in severe post-colonial conditions, Ila prefers the roughness of London life to the over protectiveness of Calcutta to be free, the contradiction in the modern middleclass woman's nationalist narrative rises to the surface. Further, The intricate interactions between nationalism, cosmopolitanism, and freedom are reflected in the gender tensions between Thamma and Ila. we can use Partha Chatterjee's gender theory, which is based on his research on civil and political society, to understand the dynamics at work. According to Chatterjee political and civil society shape and perpetuate gender norms in India's patriarchal society. The political society is represented by Thamma, who sees freedom through the

nationalist prism and associates it with emancipation from colonial oppression. Her denial of Ila's critique of patriarchal gender conventions draws attention to the connection between freedom and nationalist principles. On the other hand, Ila's inclination towards London's cosmopolitanism rather than Calcutta's traditionalism suggested a yearning for individual autonomy beyond the constraints of prevailing patriarchal systems in India. According to Chatterjee's theory, identity are negotiated within society, and Ila's disobedience poses a challenge to traditional gender roles in a post-colonial setting. The violent nation-building ideology of Thamma and her hatred of Ila, calling her a "Whore," highlights how strongly gendered post-independence India is. Chatterjee's analysis of the gendered dimensions of nation-building is consistent with Thamma's nationalist viewpoint and Ila's quest for independence within a globalised context. Within Chatterjee's theory, the contradiction in the nationalist narrative of the modern middle-class lady as portrayed in the novel highlights the complex intersections between freedom, gender, and the post-colonial reality.

However, Ghosh skillfully depicts individual characters that, in the rise of historical events such as partition, grapple with the intricacies of identity, disillusionment, and cultural upheaval much like "Lost Generation". The idea of the "lost generation" is relevant in the novel where characters struggle with the fallout from historical occurrences such as partition, feeling deeply disillusioned losing their identities, and facing a fragmented cultural landscape. The novel highlights the big issues related to the lost generation. "The term "Lost generation" coined by Gertrude Stein, refers to a group of writers, and poets who lived in Parish in the 1920s and were frequently identified by the themes they explored in their writing, which included disillusionment with post-world War I society, loss of identity and tradition and culture"(Monk,2008).

Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines* and Frantz Fanon's *The Wretched of the Earth* explore the psychological and societal effects of migration and do so with similar themes. These pieces explore the violence and pain inflicted on people and communities going through major historical transitions. As a result of political choices and post-colonial migration, Ghosh portrays the anguish of India's partitions, a scene that resonates with Fanon's understanding of colonial cruelty and its lasting effects on the colonised psyche. The novel shows how generational identities are upended by migration, leading to tensions stemming from cultural incompatibility. The suffering that people go through in Fanon's story is reflected in Thamma's forced migration in *The Shadow Lines*. The greater problems of identity loss and generational conflict are reflected in the struggle for autonomy and the clash of perspectives between characters such as Thamma and Ila. Both pieces highlight the significant influence that colonial, historical, and geopolitical forces had on people, as well as the extensive effects that migration had on societal dynamics and identity.

Here, I aim to demonstrate that the Wretched of the Earth, who are referred to as colonisers, elites, or politicians, are to blame for the losses experienced by many generations. As a result, people have lost loved ones, and experienced violence, migration, trauma, and the loss of culture, family, and religion. because they compelled individuals to labour for them. Colonisers control elites or politicians to impose their will on their people and write a terrible history on the masses.

In terms of considering the youth and identity crisis, Erik Erikson's psychological theory of youth and identity crisis finds resonance with "The Shadow Lines investigation of generational conflict, migration, and cultural identity. He defined an identity crisis as intense self-examination and investigation of many perspectives. Individuals go through developmental phases, according to Erikson, with adolescence and early adulthood being crucial for the establishment of identity. The difficulties younger characters in the novel encounter with migration, cultural identity, and outside influences are aptly described by this idea. In line with Erikson's theory of identity crisis, the novel depicts generational struggles as younger characters, such as IIa and the narrator, struggle with issues of cultural and personal identity. A few factors that contribute to their sense of identity crisis are migration, exposure to global influences, and disagreements with elder generations. The confrontation, between Thamma's conservative beliefs and the younger characters more open-minded, global perspective symbolises a deep identity struggle within the framework of intergenerational conflict.

Globalisation is a major social force that shapes the younger characters's identity negotiation. Born in London, IIa personifies the intricacies of a globalised identity, demonstrating how globalisation causes cultural borders to blur and exacerbates the identity crisis experienced by people who are torn between traditional values and opinions from around the world. Moreover, A key component of identity formation, according to Erik's theory, is the pursuit of freedom and autonomy. One interpretation of the confrontations with elder generations is the pursuit of autonomy and the affirmation of personal identity, as evidenced by Thamma's criticism of IIa's life in London. However, Erikson's emphasis on the significance of incorporating cultural identity into one's self-concept is seen in the challenges faced by the narrator and IIa, who embody the younger demographic. They have been exposed to a variety of cultural influences as a result of migration and globalisation, and their experience reflects the difficulties in combining various influences into a coherent sense of self, which is consistent with Erikson's theories regarding identity integration.

The characters' economic decisions reveal ambivalence in the novel. In addition to seeking financial benefits from migrating, people struggle with the emotional complexity of leaving behind their homes and the unknown of adjusting to a new environment. Tha'mma has decided to become financially independent. "She disproves the prevalent notion of the perfect "Indian woman" in two key respects. She received a Western education" (Sircar, 1991). The narrator illustrates that Tha'mma has significant absolute authority within her family due to her economic independence.

"The increasing volume of labour and capital migration worldwide in the 19th century which the empires enabled and supported encouraged the transmission of practical skills, concepts of business organization, and entrepreneurial spirit throughout the world. European settlement in non-European regions is seen as a conduit for the spread of institutions and technologies" (Roy, 2015). The social and intellectual domains are more affected by colonialism than the economic ones. "The two most enduring effects of colonialism are the division and incomplete resistance to mental colonization that it left behind in the people" (Mukherjee, 2020). According to these quotes, the great migration made possible by empires in the 19th century had a role in the worldwide dissemination of entrepreneurial spirit, commercial ideas, and practical skills. It highlights the fact that colonialism has had a greater influence on social and intellectual spheres than on economic ones. Partitions and insufficient resistance against mental colonialism are among the long-term consequences.

Economics inequalities can be connected with Karl Marx's theory. According to Marx's economic theory, or Marxism, capitalism eventually resulted in class conflict, exploitation, and proletariat revolution. It offers a critique of capitalism. Marx argues that because capitalism is based on the bourgeoisie, who control the means of production, and the proletariat, who sell their labour, it inevitably leads to class strife. He maintained that economic disparities result from the capitalist systems's exploitation of workers through the extraction of surplus value from their labour. Further, according to him, capitalism encourages exploitation and class strife. India's colonial past had a significant economic

impact during the partition, which widened class divisions. The economic systems put in place in India after independence demonstrated the long-lasting impact of colonialism on economic inequality.

In addition, historical materialism, class conflict, and capitalism's role in exploitation are highlighted in Friedrich Engel's economic theory, which is a complement to Marxism.

Together with Marxism, Friedrich Engles's economic theory asserts that class conflicts are how historical materialism develops civilizations. He draws attention to the exploitative aspects of capitalism and predicts a proletarian revolution to bring it down. The concepts put out by Engles provide a framework for examining historical occurrences such as the partition of India, illustrating how economic systems interact with social changes and class disputes.

In *The Shadow Lines* historical materialism, economic inequalities, and class struggles particularly in the setting of postcolonial India and the aftermath of the 1947 partition are used to connect the ideas of Karl Marx and Fridrich Engles. Characters like Thamma, who must negotiate the difficulties of financial decision-making in the postcolonial setting, are prime examples of how Karl Marx's ideas are explored in this area of economic dynamics. The complex interplay between personal choices and more general economic circumstances is best illustrated by Thamma's pursuit of financial independence are her subsequent reluctance to give financial support to the family of her departed relative. This is consistent with Marx's that the basis of social institutions is economic struggles that the protagonists in East Pakistan (Bangladesh) experience. People like Khalil and Saifuddin's financial struggles serve as microcosms for wider societal injustices stemming from governmental choices. Marx's theory of class struggles is illustrated graphically as characters struggle with

disparities in wealth, opportunity, and social status, emphasising the far-reaching effects of the split.

In the novel, Friedrick Engel's viewpoints harmonies well with Karl Marx's particularly when it comes to historical events and economic conditions. Engelsian theories are consistent with Jatin's migration for work, which was prompted by historical occurrences like as the partition. Engel's emphasis on class warfare is emphasized by the expropriation of family resources brought about by migration, which illustrates how migration maintains economic inequalities within Jatin's family. The novel portrayal of how the legacy of colonial control exacerbates economic inequalities resonates with the extension of Englesian ideas to investigate the long-term impacts of colonialism on economic systems. The intricate relationship that The Shadow Lines draws between historical events and economic inequalities highlights how closely Marx and Engels's views are related. The expropriation of ancestral homes, post-partition conflicts for income, and the financial consequences of political activities are all examples of how historical events have had a significant influence on the development of economic institutions and class relations. Marx and Engels' theories come together in Ghosh's novel and social structures in the postcolonial setting. Additionally, Marxist Prabhat Patnaik's viewpoints, which show how colonial legacies have resulted in economic inequalities, are consistent with The Shadow Lines. The novel depicts the aftermath of India's division, exposing how colonial powers exploited certain areas, leading to the loss of ancestral properties and financial difficulties in East Pakistan. The novel demonstrates the enduring and ongoing economic disparities portrayed in The Shadow Lines all of which are supported by Patnaik's ideas.

This literature study examines Amitav Ghosh; 's *The Shadow Lines*, revealing the intricate relationship between political and personal aspects in the character's battle with identity,

displacement, and historical events such as the partition. This research has a strong foundation because of the careful examination of postcolonialism complexities, gender conflicts, and the effects of governmental decisions on individual life. It provides a thorough grasp of how political forces influence and frequently eclipse personal narratives within the framework of the novel. The novel does not explicitly depict the economic point of view. Ghosh's description of multiple incidents gives the reader an indication of economic disparities.

Chapter 1: Navigating Ambivalence in Post-colonial Identity Terrain

Amitav Ghosh's post-colonialist novel *The Shadow Lines* demonstrates how the characters struggle with the complex relationship between ambivalence, nationalism, and the dynamic force of migration. After colonial domination, national boundaries were established, profoundly casting a long shadow over people's lives. This chapter explores the twisting passageways of post-colonial ambivalence in this novel where the characters experience identity crises due to historical occurrences and the intersection of personal and political. The contours of nationalism emerge as the reader enters this narrative world. It is set against a background of moving boundaries and disputed areas.

"The use of mirrors in the novel challenges the perceived distinctions between Dhaka and Calcutta as recently formed Nations." (Kasikhan, 1015). Calcutta and Dhaka are shown as mirror images that illustrate the significance of political events, the complexities of history, and identity. The novel's depiction of the two cities' connection goes beyond their physical proximity, despite their geographic separation.

Tha'mma's portrayal of the idea of a "mirror image" is especially moving. "Mirror image describes how someone appears to be reflecting or resembling themselves in the mirror. The way people view themselves, their identities, and the effects of historical events such as the division of their self-image could all be represented by this metaphor. To highlight the complexities of identity in a post-colonial society, the novel emphasizes how people confront their reflection in cultural, political, and psychological changes. Tha'mma is the family matriarch, representing the echoes of a shared past. Her experience acts as a mirror, reflecting the intricacies of identity. Family generational problems are reflected in Tha'mma's memories of pre-partition Dhaka, the horrific events of the sectarian riots, and her emotional connections to the past. Tha'mma's persona perfectly captures the ambivalence from

negotiating the historical shadows, which affects her perceptions and how she interacts with her family. With an emphasis on the complex interactions between cultural ties, personal histories, and the long-lasting effects of political decisions on individual lives, Tha'mma's story becomes a mirror reflecting the novel's larger theme. However, The looking-glass border's history, which draws attention to the parallels between these two communities, goes back to a period before passports and identity cards were necessary for movement.

"The simple fact that there had never been a moment in the four-thousand-year-old history of that map, where the places we know as Dhaka and Calcutta were more closely bound to each other than after they had drawn their lines - so closely that I, in Calcutta, had only to look into the mirror to be in Dhaka; a moment when each city was the invented image of the other, locked into an irreversible symmetry by the line that was to set us free- our looking-glass border" (Ghosh, 233).

Identity crisis and ambivalence

Ghosh examines the complicated interplay of political and personal pressure reflected in the issue of ambivalence in migration and contradictory national identities, The characters from Calcutta to Dhaka struggle with the difficulties of moving from one city to another. Further, the political developments surrounding the formation of East Pakistan add a degree of ambiguity to their perception of national identity. However, the character Tha'mma has strong sentimental ties to and feelings of nostalgia for Dhaka before the partition. Dhaka was a fundamental component of her identity and a representation of her culture and familial origins long before the lines were drawn on the map. Her single Indian identity is called into question by the development of East Pakistan, a new geopolitical entity. The political decision that led to the formation of separate nations based on religion introduces a sense of dissonance into Tha'mma's worldview. The issues of identification and belonging arise when

borders are drawn arbitrarily, dividing a formerly connective area into several units. The new nation's foundation caused Tha'mma to experience identity by bringing conflict and ambivalence into her life on a goal scale. When they are travelling to Garia, Thamma is provoked by the narrator's father to admit that they are also refugees, much like other migrants, because her roots in Dhaka and Dhaka carry a different nationality now. "We are not refugees, snapped my grandmother, on cue. We came long before partition" (Ghosh,131). She refuses because they came to Calcutta long ago before the partition happened and at that time Dhaka and Calcutta were under the same state. She is not a refugee; rather, she moved to Calcutta for employment and settled here.

After the partition, she experienced ambivalence due to her deep ties to Dhaka. She claimed it wasn't Dhaka when she arrived to take his uncle to India since she had seen a different picture of the city, one that was centered around the opulent Dhanmondi. "In 1964 Dhanmondi was barely a blueprint for the fashionable suburb it was to become later. It was a near-empty wasteland of flooded foundation trenches" (Ghosh, 195). Further when they enter their home area Thamma and Mayadebi get emotional holding each other hands tightly by watching Shadorbajar, in this Royal stationary, they used to buy a textbook. The gesture of holding hands expresses empathy and mutual understanding. Their stronghold conveys a depth of feelings that words might not be able to capture, emphasizing the universal subject of shared memories and the emotional significance ingrained in seemingly unremarkable locations. The Dhaka house's physical surroundings have changed throughout time. A feeling of displacement and conflict may be brought on by the modifications to the city's infrastructure, architecture, and general landscape. The house where a family used to reside is now inhabited by the refuge.

Both Characters have an identity crisis since they have experienced periods of social and political upheaval. Their memories of Dhaka did not match up with Dhaka of today. The conflict between clinging to an idealized past and facing the realities of the present is what gives rise to ambivalence. The house represents the meeting point of individual and societal ambivalence. Even though time has passed, their shared memories bring them together in a shared comprehension of the emotional burden that the physical location once held significant in their lives. The ambivalence in this point is evident that Thamma nad Mayadebi deals with the visible and invisible changes in a setting rich in historical and personal meaning. The location is skillfully used by Ghosh to examine how people struggle with memory, identity, and the long-lasting effects of historical events on their sense of belonging.

The themes of *The Shadow Lines* are consistent with Gayatri Spivak's rejection of the notion of reclaiming a pre-colonial past. To investigate the consequences of colonialism and India's partition, the novel presents characters who struggle with identity issues and the effects of historical events on their lives. The novel's characters negotiate a post-colonial world, grappling with the aftermath of colonialism and their quest for cultural origins, in the lack of a pristine pre-colonial past. "Spivak disagreed with the notion that we can reconstruct a pre-colonial past. A yearning for one's lost origins, original culture, and roots is an imprudent endeavor since colonialism altered the pre-colonial past, leaving it unrecognizable as pristine." (Parveen, 2016).

Thamma's identity is shaped in a multifaceted way by Gayatri Chakravorty Spivak's rejection of the idea of reconstructing a "pure" pre-colonial history. Thamma's battle with the conflict between her Hindu ideology and her birthplace of Dhaka, East Pakistan, from the novel illustrates the complex effects of colonialism on people's lives. The denial of the pre-colonial past that can be reconciled highlights the difficulties the characters in the narrative have in balancing their cultural identities. Her identity has been greatly influenced by nationalist fervour as she exits during the period of India's independence movement and the partition that followed. People like Thamma and other characters in the novel are directly affected by political actions steeped in nationalist ideas, as seen by the arbitrary border- drawing based on religion during partition. For example, she was profoundly affected psychologically by seeing the violent conflicts between communities and the forced migrations that came along with nationalist efforts to create separate nation-states. The establishment of new political boundaries challenges the flexibility and interconnection of her cultural roots greatly enhancing her feelings of exile and ambivalence. In this postcolonial setting, the intricate relationship between an individual's identity and the more powerful forces of political nationalism is portrayed vividly by Thamma, whose struggle to reconcile the culture and geographical division created by nationalist agendas serves as an example of her loss of identity.

Another character named Tridib represents contradictory national identities. Tridib's experiences, who has lived in both India and England, are representative of the larger topic of a national identity that is split. He negotiates the difficulties of belonging to two countries with different histories and cultural contexts, which adds ambivalence to his cross-cultural existence. Political unrest and sectarian violence, particularly during the partition period, aid in his understanding of the limitations of the concept of a single national identity. Tridip is travelling into a new cultural environment and leaving his heritage behind with his migration to England. During his stay in England, he immerses himself in a society that has been influenced by colonial history, gaining insight into viewpoints and backgrounds that differ from those of his native country. As he navigates the challenges of identification in both India and England as a cultural middleman, this cross-cultural exploration erodes his feeling of belonging.

Tridib's conversation with the Englishwoman May Price while they are in Dhaka is one important instance. may, an outsider to the subcontinent's diverse cultural landscape, stands in for the English viewpoint. Tridip works through the difficulties of assisting May in comprehending the complexities of Dhaka's politics and history. He tries, but there's a noticeable cultural divide between them. Such as, Tridip's attempt to explain the complexities of the events is met with a certain detachment from May when she inquires about the significance of the communal rioting in comprehending the emotional significance of the historical story.

Ila and the narrator's ambivalence and identity

In the context of migration, the narrator and Ila's characters struggle with ambivalence, which reflects the large issue of complicated identities shaped by historical and political events. Ila's conflicting ties to England and India perfectly capture her ambivalence. Her parents are Indian and she was raised in London. She represents a hybridity of cultures that is fascinating and complicated.

Ila's cultural hybridity is weaved together from the strands of her Indian origin and her upbringing in London to create a complex and diverse tapestry. Her perspective is influenced by London, a city formed by the cultural diversity and colonial legacy. But she also maintains a strong bond with her ancestral home of India in addition to cosmopolitanism. Ila's battle with identification is depicted in the novel as she works through the difficulties of having two cultural affiliations. Her family and memories, especially the character Thamma have molded her affinity with India in addition to her travels there. Ila's ambivalence stems from the intricate interplay between her personal experience and family stories. Her sense of belonging is split between the real-world London and the imagined Indian landscape. The partition of India and the other historical events have a lasting effect that makes Ila's relationship with her ancestral home even more difficult. Ila's vision of India is shaped by her family's collective memories of the communal conflicts and forced migrations during partition. Her family's trauma and displacement become deeply ingrained in her perception of the country. Further, complicating her experience of migration with layers of conflicting emotions. At school, Ila experienced bullying due to her Indian nationality. Ila heard the shout: Little wog, nig nog! (Ghosh, 74). She ran across the road without stopping. Three or four of them were sprinting directly behind her, catching up, and she could hear them too. She was struck between the shoulders by something, causing her to collapse into the concrete. Ila was hit in the face by Denise's slashed open hand. Her blood was splattering on the dust, as she could see. Denise pressed her palm against Ila's lips.

Ila gives the narrator the story, and Magda, the primary character, is Ila's representative. She uses a story to tell the narrator about her terrible experience since she is reluctant to admit that she was the victim of this tale. "Nonetheless, she makes every effort to persuade the narrator that she is well-liked and welcomed by her group. However, in actuality, she is a victim of racism at the English international school" (Ahlawat, 2014). She endures physical and psychological suffering as a result of her peers' rejection. She was miserable and alone. However, she chose to remain in England without her parents despite being teased there for being of a different nationality, demonstrating her ambivalence.

The novel's border theme of post-colonialism identity is enhanced by this event. Ila's experience with racism serves as a reminder of the pervasive colonial legacies that endure even in London, a city that represents itself as cosmopolitan and modern. It draws attention to how historical events continue to influence people's daily experiences and communities, giving their migration stories more nuance. Identity, cultural hybridity, and the lasting effects

of historical events are all explored in depth in Ila's ambivalence toward migration. Further, living in London caused her to lose her original identity. Her story provides a comprehensive depiction of the complex interactions and cultural identity in the postcolonial environment, illuminating the complex interactions between individual experience, familial narratives, and the larger historical background.

Despite being born and rewarded in Calcutta, the narrator undergoes a type of virtual migration as he hears his family member's stories. The memories and experiences of the others influence his story, which adds to his ambivalence as he works through the complexities of his own identity. The stories of the other characters, especially those that deal with historical events such as the partition of India, influence the narrator's perception of his own identity. The narrator's concept of self becomes entwined with the various viewpoints and memories shared with him as he hears the stories of his family members, who have experienced tremendous political and social changes. The ambivalence arises from the conflicting narratives and perspectives presented by different characters. In this context, the term virtual migration describes the narrator's journey through other character's experiences, where they experience a kind of displacement through their memories. This adds to a complex and multi-layer investigation of identity in which the narrator must take a sense of the differences between his personal experiences and his family's collective recollection. His struggle with the abundance of narratives highlights the complicated interactions between individual and collective history, illuminating the intricacies of identity. The novel asks readers to consider how personal identities are not separate but rather intricately woven into the larger fabric of memories and experiences.

The narrative's conception of migration and belonging is permanently altered by the longlasting effects of historical occurrences like the communal riots during partition. The novel's examination of the complicated interplay between political and personal causes, the longlasting effects of historical events, and the complexity of postcolonial identities established by migratory dynamics are reflected in Ila's and the narrator's ambivalence over their migration experiences.

Psychological influence of ambivalence

Ghosh explores the psychological effects of ambivalence through the portrayal of individuals who have to balance their aspirations with prevailing political and social norms. The emotional burden of migration and the difficulties presented by completing national identities are highlighted by the inner anguish that characters such as Thamma, Tridip, the narrator and Ila go through.

The psychological pain that arises from ambivalence is personified by Ila's character. Her identity is divided between two worlds because she was raised in London. Conflicting social expectations based on ethnic and cultural differences are intertwined with her yearning to fit in. Her internal conflict is intensified by the racism she experiences in London. Which makes her balance her own need for acceptance with the societal prejudice she encounters. This inner struggle turns into a moving examination of the psychological effects of ambivalence, emphasizing the emotional cost of juggling two different cultural identities.

The narrator experiences a psychological shift through his family member's recollections, while physically rooted in Calcutta. The assumptions of a national identity influenced by historical events such as partition are wrestled with, as it involves a psychological journey. His awareness of himself is shaped by the opposing narratives from India to England, which engender psychological ambivalence that speakers to the larger issue of postcolonial identity. The psychoanalytic critique of Sigmund Freud provides a fascinating analysis of *The Shadow Lines* by Amitav Ghosh. The novel's characters Narrator and tridip experiences can be better understood by referring to Freud's theories, especially those concerning the unconscious mind and the intricacies of human conduct. Freud; 's theory of the unconscious can be used to explain the novel's characters suppressed memories, secret desires, and conflicts. Characters such as Tridip and the narrator struggle with unconscious motives influenced by historical occurrences like partition that affected their relationship and identities. Relationship in terms of the narrator's unmet love for IIa and Tridip's desired love for May.

Tha'mma, the family matriarch, struggle with the psychological effects of having two different identities. Her post-partition memories of Dhaka clash with the realities of East and West Pakistan after the partition, leaving her feeling incredibly dislocated. By revealing the profound psychological effects of ambivalence, tha'mma's psychological journey transforms into a moving examination of the emotional toll that political actions exact. Nevertheless, the divide caused every character to lose their original identity, and the locations were never the same. Their identity dilemma never goes away, and it always has an impact on them. The characters in the novel together highlight the complex relationship that exists between individual aspirations and social norms, offering a sophisticated perspective on the psychological aspects of ambivalence in the context of migration. The reader's profound view into the human psyche amid migration-induced ambiguity, Ghosh's research dives into the emotional landscapes of individuals negotiating the intricacies of identity molded by historical events and the competing demands of society.

The instability and struggles that the individual experiences are ultimately political rather than personal, as Ghosh deftly interweaves the political and personal components of identity. The partition of India, in particular, which not only physically uproots the characters but also shatters their original identities, is one of the major historical events that the characters struggle with. The novel emphasizes how important political choices about nationalism and borders are in forming people's lives and how this causes a widespread identity problem. In the end, Ghosh portrays the characters as victims of greater geopolitical upheavals that overshadow their search for a stable and authentic identity by expertly examining the psychological subtleties of ambivalence and demonstrating how intimately personal struggle and entwined with large political forces.

Chapter 2: Unraveling violence through religion, exile and ambivalence

In the context of the partition, the novel explores the complex intersections between religious identities, especially Hindus and Muslims. The novel *The Shadow Lines* is deeply connected to the religious dynamics and historical background of postcolonial India. The political decision made the characters impacted by their religious belief, which reflects the wider effects of colonial legacies. This chapter will examine historical occurrences, people's fates, and how they handle the consequences of making political decisions that force them into exile by using religion. Simultaneously, there is a question that the partition serves the interests of the general public or politicians who have political or personal motivations for it.

Political leaders used religious identity to win support and further, their political objectives after India was split into East Pakistan and West Pakistan in 1947. Colonial legacies and post-colonial political forces led to the complicated partition of India into East and West Pakistan. Conflicts between religions were exacerbated by the divide-and-conquer strategies of colonial rulers. These differences reached their apex during the post-colonial era when Pakistan was established as a Muslim state only. After colonization, political figures used religious identity to create new countries, and the post-colonial era struggled with the fallout. The fight for a secular state highlighted how colonial forces continued to shape post-colonial political environments. The primary benefit of the split for Indian politicians was the creation of a secular state to defend the rights of religious minorities. The creation of Pakistan, which originally consisted of West Pakistan and East Pakistan was primarily driven by the desire to create a distinct state for Muslims. The plan was for Pakistan to be majority Muslim and India to be Majority Hindu.

From a large historical perspective, political leaders in India deliberately used religious identity to garner support during the partition. Establishing a secular state was the desired advantage of Indian politics, demonstrated by Jawaharlal Nehru and Mahatma Gandhi. Through the characters' experiences, the narrative subtly illustrates the aftermath of the partition, highlighting the influence of historical events on personal lives. The novel examines the difficulties and complexities of achieving this idea in the face of historical traumas and personal experiences formed by religious conflict, even if Nehru and Ghandi sought a secular state. "After the subcontinent was divided and gained independence, a bloody interreligious battle resulted from the desire for a nation-state and for people, culture, and territory to be united" (Peeters, 2008).

Since Congress was the driving force behind nationalist activities that led to the persecution of Muslims and the denigration of their religious beliefs, Muhammad Ali Jinnah developed the two-nation thesis. "The acts of the Congress infuriated the moderate Muslims even more, and they subsequently shifted their allegiance to the All India Muslim League" (Ikram, 2005). "Congress and Hindus actual intentions were demonstrated during the 1937- 1939 congress ministries period in India subcontinent" (Hassan, 2020). They were not acting in a secular way when they were forcing Muslims to practice their religion, Hinduism. All they wanted from Muslims was to bow down to them and treat them like property. This time frame demonstrates Congress's extreme animosity towards Muslims. "One of the nationalist initiatives of the congress was the "Wardha Scheme" "This was incorporated into curriculum and involved Hindu teachers bowing down in front of Gandhi's portrait while imparting knowledge in Hindi to establish Hindu supremacy over Muslim" (Ikram, 2005). Muslims are not allowed to bow down to anybody but Allah; doing so is against their religious principles and destiny.

One of the main proponents of the two-nation theory is frequently regarded as Muhammad Ali Jinnah, the leader of the All-India Muslim League and the man who founded Pakistan. According to certain viewpoints, Jinnah supported the creation of a distinct Muslim state to protect Muslims' political and cultural rights on the Indian subcontinent, where they would form a religious minority if India were to be unified with a Hindu majority. However,

"According to this theory, Muslims and Hindus are two distinct countries with distinct cultures, customs, and religions. As such there is tension between the two groups while they live peacefully in the Indian subcontinent" (Qasmi, 2018). "Nehru established the provisional government on September 2, 1946. However, the Muslim League first declined to become a part of the interim government, but it was able to obtain its own." (Sing, 2011). Nehru has consistently resisted the notion of the two-nation doctrine. Although he had never supported religious discrimination, he had to accept it in 1947.

Regarding politics, Jinnah and the Muslim League accomplished a great deal with the founding of Pakistan. It gave Muslims their nation, granting them more political independence. After the country was founded, Jinnah assumed command and led it as its first Governor-General until his passing in 1948. Although Jinnah's activities were motivated by his belief that the Muslim population in the Indian subcontinent was in the best of hands, he may have also been motivated by a desire to assume political leadership in the newly formed state, because it was difficult for him under congress in India to rule the nation as a leader. It is difficult to conclude that a historical figure's activities were motivated only by self-interest due to the complexities of their motivations. Moreover, in historical study, scholars frequently take into account a variety of elements, such as ideological, political, and personal reasons, to offer a comprehensive understanding of the choices and deeds of significant individuals like Muhammad Ali Jinnah.

Violence through religion

The novel addresses the aftermath of partition through Tha'mma's memories and the communal tension in Dhaka. In the novel Thamma witnesses the brutality that takes on both the lives of the individual and the community. Her recollection demonstrates the terrible effects that religious disputes have on people's lives and communities. Thamma 's memories serve as a microcosm of the more significant historical occurrences, illustrating the human cost of religiously motivated violence. Through political leaders' vision for a secular state, characters like Thamma's real-life experiences highlight the difficulties in implementing true secularism. Religious conflict causes trauma and displacement, which influences Thamma's conception of herself and adds to the novel's theme of exile. Thamma is the victim of this violence when She attempts to visit Dhaka, her birthplace but finds herself in need of appropriate documentation due to the partition, and she is now a citizen of a different country. In her birthplace, she transforms into another country person.

In 1964 the narrator reflects on the communal riots that took place in Calcutta. The tension between the Muslim and Hindu communities is cited as the cause of the riots. The impact of these riots on the narrator's sense of identity and belonging is depicted in the novel.

For example, the riots have long-lasting effects on the narrator's comprehension of the complexity of religious and communal interactions, as the riots directly affect his family. During this time, there was a lot of communal violence, which the characters had to navigate to shape their experiences and relationships. "Ghosh portrayal of riots is how they are consistently presented as a subversion of relationships and daily life" (Capitani, 2020). In the classic Freudian sense, riots are uncanny because they turn the familiar into a perverted version of itself.

The narrator was the victim of one of the riots when the mob stopped his school bus.

The narrator notices the movement of the mob during a tense period inside the bus. The situation is more dramatic by the bus's sudden stop and brake's squeaking noise. An atmosphere of common and impending danger is heightened by the abrupt stop. Tension between the Muslim and Hindu communities caused the riots. Another example of mob violence is the death of Tridib, Jethamoshai and Khalil.

"The mob dragged him in. He vanished. I could only see their backs. It looks less than a moment. Then the men began to scatter. I picked myself up and began to run towards them. The men had melted, into the gullies. When I got there, I saw three bodies. They were all dead. They would cut Khalil's stomach open. The old man's head had been hacked off. And they'd cut Tridib's throat, from ear to ear" (Ghosh, 307).

The character Thamma becomes extremely hateful after Tridib's tragic death at the hands of mobs in Dhaka. She donated her only necklace which is the only memento of her husband. She donates the necklace to the war fund so that it can help the army to wipe the mob out. "I gave it to fund for the war. I had to, don't you see? For your sake; for your freedom. We have to kill them before they kill us, we have to wipe them out" (Ghosh, 237). The tension within the community drives the unrest that results in Tridib's death. Further. Deeply ingrained divisions across society are highlighted by the violence that breaks out between various religious and ethnic groups. This struggle claims Tridib as a victim. Additionally, Tridib gives his life to save May because she might go try to save Khalai and Jethamoshai. "I could have gone right into that mob, and they wouldn't have touched me" (Ghosh, 251). May claims that since she is an English memsahib, no one has hurt her, yet Tridib sacrificed his life to save May.

Another incident occurred in history, Muslims, Hindus, and Sikhs from all across Kashmir marched in their hundreds to see the hair of the prophet Muhammad, known as Mu-I Mubarak, when it was transported to Kashmir and placed in the lovely Hazratbal mosque. When the relic was on public display, they would travel in large numbers to Hazratbal. The Mu-i-Mubarak vanished from Kashmir Two hundred and sixty-three years after it was introduced there. There have been instances of routing, although the government facilities were the rioters' intended goal rather than civilians. However, there is not a single historical incidence of this event.

The novel examines how various personality's view and relate to violence via the prism of religion. As a Hindu, the character Thamma sees the events from a particular angle, but Muslim figures such as Saifuddin and Khalil would have experienced things differently. There are many points of view on the complex scenario of religious violence. The memories and traumas that endure across generations serve as a visual representation of the long-lasting effects of religious violence. The character's relationships and identities have been shaped by the scars they bear from communal wars. The narrator considered Tridib to be his idol, the narrator suffered anguish when he lost Tridib. The novel makes the argument that the effect of religious violence goes beyond the incidents.

Identity dynamics and scared displacement

In Amitav Ghosh's The Shadow Lines, religion plays a significant role in influencing a character's beliefs, fates, and interpersonal relationships. Through individuals such as Saifuddin and Khalil, whose Muslim identity forces them into the chaos of partition, the novel explores the complications of forced migration. Saiguddin's wistful reflections about Motihari eloquently highlight the psychological cost of exile and the close bond between a

person's religious identity and their native place. In addition, the character Jethmoshai undergoes a profound transformation, challenging religious orthodoxy in the face of societal upheaval. The novel questions the strict limits of religious intolerance by focusing on people's varied reactions to changing sociopolitical environments shaped by historical occurrences, especially those rooted in religious identity.

"Thamma's reaction to forced migration reveals a profound contradiction: although her birthplace of Dhaka in Muslim East Pakistan challenges her Hindu ideology, which suggests that Calcutta is her home, she feels as though she was left on foreign land in a foreign country following partition" (Peeters, 2008) She blamed Muslims and the British for this partition. This paradox reflects the broad anguish that many people on the subcontinent went through when they were forced to flee their physical homes and end up in their country's cultural home. Minor characters such as Khalil and Saifuddin also illustrate a forcefully migrated people. In other words exile. They migrated from India to east Pakistan Dhaka. As they are Muslim they are forced to move to East Pakistan. They suffer greatly from income and lose their land, identity, and place. However, Saifuddin's journey from Mothihari, Bihar, to Dhaka, east Pakistan, perfectly captures the chaos and displacement that many people went through during the partition. According to the two-nation theory, Saifuddin as a Muslim found himself on the wrong side of the border. A hard reality for many people, including Saifuddin, was forced migration because of their religious identity.

This novel illustrates the psychological cost of exile, delving into Saifuddin's nostalgia for Motihari and the terrible effects of losing one's native nation. "Have you been to Mothihari, sahb, in Bihar? That's where I was born".(Ghosh, 209). This statement reflects a deep connection to his birthplace. This experience is shared by many people who have gone through forced migration. Motihari not only represents a place but also represents his heritage, roots, and a sense of belonging that he was forced to leave behind.

"You must go and visit Motihari when you get back. It's a nice place, though..."(Ghosh.209). His displacement represents the loss of his identity, home, and financial security while leaving his homeland and roots behind. The ambiguity in Saifuddin and Motihari's relationship is highlighted throughout the novel. "It's a nice place" This statement indicates an underlying complexity, even though he conveys a deep connection to his homeland. The ellipsis hints at subtleties that are not mentioned, revealing the depth of his feelings. This ambivalence runs through many people's experiences, as they are caught between loving their birthplace and the terrible reality that compelled them to leave.

More than a physical relocation, saifuddin's dislocation symbolizes the loss of his identity, his house and his financial stability. In the narrative, leaving one's native country is depicted as a forced separation from comfortable surroundings and cultural anchors rather than a choice exploration. After he mentions his birthplace there is an ellipsis that suggests a nuanced emotional reaction, highlighting Saifuddin's conflicted emotions of gratitude for his birthplace and sadness at being apart from it. Saifuddin's struggle with migration is the loss of identity. His life is interrupted by his displacement, cutting him off from physical and cultural indicators that shape who he is. His memories are triggered when Motihari is brought up, bringing back a sense of belonging that is very different from his present circumstances.

Furthermore, Saifuddin's narrative captures the larger reality of many people who are forced to migrate. The emotional and mental fabric of the displaced person is affected by the psychological cost of exile, which goes beyond the act of physically leaving. A deep sensation of dislocation and ambivalence is produced when the loss of one's homeland and identity become entwined. *The Shadow Lines* illuminates the psychological intricacies of exile through his nostalgic thoughts of Motihari. In addition to the loss of identity and home, his conflicting feelings provide a moving illustration of the complex psychological effects of forced migration. Instigating a sophisticated awareness of the complex interplay between one's roots and the harsh reality of an uprooted existence, the story asks readers to reflect on the emotional cost of displacement.

Moreover, Khalil's movement from Murshidabad, Bengal, mirrors the broader patterns of displacement during partition time. Khalil deals with the sociopolitical issues that lead to community migration as a Muslim in Post-partition India. Saifuddin and Khalil shared the experience of losing land, native identity and economic stability. Both characters Saifuddin and Khalil embody the themes of migration, including loss, dislocation, and identity crisis. Their stories aid the novel's examination of how historical events affect peoples' fate and how they deal with the fallout from political choices that send them into exile. Khalil is thrown into a journey filled with loss and dislocation as a result of the political upheaval that alters his destiny. The novel explores how historical occurrences Like India's division trigger people like Khalil to deal with identity crises. People struggle with issues of home and belonging as a result of the partition, which not only redraws national borders but also redefines cultural and personal ties.

Saifuddin and Khalil both come to represent how political decisions influence the human experience as an entire entity. Their personal stories are told against the backdrop of historical events' aftermath. The novel challenges readers to consider how these characters deal with the difficulties of exile, grief, and identity crisis. It exemplifies the enormous influence that political choices have on people's lives, showing that migration is a trip that profoundly alters a person's sense of self rather than just a physical relocation. However, the

multiple facts of migration are experienced in *The Shadow Lines* through the stories of Saifuddin and Khalil. Their stories highlight the psychological and emotional aspects of identity crisis, loss, and displacement. The novel invites readers to consider the large effects of governmental decisions on people's lives as well as the complex ways in which people deal with the fallout from forced migration by weaving together personal narratives with historical occurrences.

People migrate and take refuge in one other's homes; Muslims do this for Hindus. Hindus then assist Muslims in India from east Pakistan. In the novel, Jethmoshai's destiny changes; before the division, he doesn't even consume food if the Muslim shadow comes into contact with it, but after that, he depends on Khalil's family and eats food prepared by Khalil's wife. "There was a time when that old man was so orthodox that he would not let a Muslim shadow pass within ten feet of his food? And look at him now, paying the price of his sins" (Ghosh, 210). Jethamoshai's changed attitudes and behaviors capture the novel's examination of the profound influence of historical events on people's beliefs and behaviors, especially the partition of India. Jethmoshai's transition from a devoutly orthodox person to someone in need of help from Muslim neighbors illustrates the intricate relationship between individual beliefs, societal shifts, and the effects of political choices. Jethmoshai upheld strict orthodoxy before the partition, as demonstrated by his refusal to let a Muslim shadow approach his food. This emphasizes the prevalent religious prejudice that existed before to division. The perceived impurity linked to religious differences is symbolized by the shadow, a notion regrettably prevalent in the socio-political climate of the era. Jethmoshai is thrust into a new reality by the partition, people are forced to reassess their beliefs and priorities in the wake of the turmoil and bloodshed that ensues. When people experience the common difficulties of loss, displacement, and survival, the once-unbreakable boundaries of religious intolerance start to erode.

The statement, "And look at him now, paying the price of his sins," perfectly captures the social criticism that follows these kinds of adjustments. There's a persistent feeling of social criticism even though Jethmoshai's development can be understood as a practical reaction to altered conditions. Commenting on how some see his change in viewpoint as a result, the author suggests that his novel acknowledges the nuanced opinions that society has towards those who challenge social conventions or norms.

To sum up this chapter, the novel deftly examines the tremendous effects that political choices have on individual lives and highlights the psychological complexities of loss, identity crises, and exile. The figures of Saifuddin, Khalil, and Jethmoshai represent the more general patterns of displacement that occurred during the split, illuminating the complex interplay between personal convictions and societal changes. The depicted violence is a result of political choices and has its roots in religious dynamics. The novel depiction of turmoil and forced migration shows how historical events alter people's fate, with a greater political bent than a personal one. Ghosh invites readers to consider the complex relationship that exist between political decisions, religious identity, and the long-term ramifications of acts of communal violence.

Chapter 3: Generation conflict

The Shadow Lines is divided into two sections: "Going Away" and "Coming Home." The three generations of the narrator's family and the English Price family are followed throughout the novel, which is set in Calcutta, Dhaka, and London."Three generations and two families with dissimilar racial, cultural, and background. The novel examines the relationship between brown Indians and white British people against the backdrop of Bengal's communal holocaust following partition" (Singh, 2020). When considering" The Shadow Lines" from the perspective of migration and post-colonialism, generation conflict gives the novel more nuance and complexity. Migration is experienced and interpreted differently by generations within a family. Migration leaves scars and memories on characters such as Tha'mma, who experienced the partition and its consequences. On the other hand, the narrator represents the younger generation they may not have experienced the events firsthand but they deal with their consequences. This chapter examines how migration causes generational conflict and causes people to lose their identity, as well as why the younger generation values freedom above all else.

Lost Generation

Ghosh contains elements of the lost Generation term, especially in the way it depicts characters who are uprooted, loses their identities, and become disillusioned as a result of political and historical changes. In its original context, it describes a generation of people who were born during or immediately following World War I and experienced trauma, disillusionment, and a sense of purposelessness. This generation tried to find purpose in a society that appeared to have lost its innocence while dealing with the effects of the war and unseen acts of brutality. Particularly in showing characters who are displaced, lose their identity, and become disillusioned as a result of historical and political upheavals. The interrelated stories spanning decades and locations reflect the fragmented nature of the experience of the Lost Generation. The novel interweaves stories from Calcutta, Dhaka and London, demonstrating the connectivity of personnel affected by historical events.

However, the lost generation's memories of trauma, displacement, and identity loss are vividly portrayed in this novel, especially during India's partition. The novel illustrates how political upheavals have a significant impact on people's identities through Thamma's forced migration and community violence. Frantz Fanon's groundbreaking work, The Wretched of the Earth can be understood in light of the anguish endured by individuals such as Thamma and her family. However, Ghosh's novel and Fanon's examination of colonial brutality and its long-lasting consequences on the colonised psyche are similar in that both deal with painful experiences. As colonisers argued and political decisions were carried out, the division of national led to significant changes in society, reiterating Fanon's observations about the psychological effects of colonialism. Fanon's understanding of the effects of colonialism on individuals and society draws parallels with the trauma caused by migration, communal violence, and the effort to reconcile identities. In his The Wretched of the Earth, Fanon explains how the country was colonised by violent means after a group of elite individuals were brainwashed. Similarly, British colonists gave politicians the idea to split the nation according to religion in the novel The Shadow Lines, which led to post-colonial migration, trauma, and violence. Those who suffer from trauma and violence are the other Characters, whereas politicians and colonisers are the wretched of the Earth.

Further, the novel's interwoven tales from London, Dhaka, and Calcutta also reflect Fanon's views on the interdependence of world events shaped by colonial history. The character's

attempts to make sense of the turbulent historical period are consistent with Fanon's insights regarding the search for meaning and identity in the wake of colonial oppression. Additionally, Ila's experience with racism in London highlights the personal scars left by historical and political changes, connected to Fanon's analysis of how racism dehumanizes those who are colonized. With Fanon's perspective woven throughout, Ghosh's novel becomes a moving examination of the long-lasting trauma brought on by political decisions and migration spurred by colonial ideologies, ultimately highlighting the profound effects of historical and geopolitical forces in individual lives.

During India's partition, Thamma and her family endured the trauma of forced migration. Thamma's memories of leaving Dhaka and the ensuing communal violence demonstrate the profound impact of displacement on identity. Further, the unnamed narrator's efforts to uncover his family history illustrate the lack of cultural roots in the rocked by political and historical developments, this subject is further illustrated by the family's struggle to reconcile their Indian and East Pakistan identities. The narrator's attempt to make sense of Tridib's memories as well as the family's endeavour to find meaning in their collective history, depict a desire for meaning in historical upheaval. This corresponds to the Lost Generation's search for meaning in a postwar environment. Ila's encounters with racism in London, as well as her ambivalence over migration, highlight the individual wounds caused by historical and political transformations. Her novel depicts the characters' problems within the large framework of societal transformation.

Conflict with Ila, the narrator and Thamma

In the novel Thamma, her sister Mayadebi and some of the characters are from the first generation. Tridib, Robi, May, and Jatin from the second generation. Narrator, Ila, Nick from third generation. The generation gap turns into generation conflict because of the migration, culture, and points of view. The generation gap between Thamma from the first generation and Ila from the third generation shows how people of different ages within the same family have different perspectives on and experiences with migration.

The horrible events of the partition significantly influenced Thamma's migration experience even though she shifted to Calcutta long ago before the partition. Tha'mma bears the scars and memories of that time since she saw the violent and forced displacement that occurred during the division of East and West Pakistan. The emotional turmoil surrounding the events, the loss of one's homeland, and the conflicts within the community have affected her understanding of migration.

Establishing a connection with Parth Chatterjee's political and civil societies, the conflict between the third-generation IIa and the elder Thamma represents the conflicts that exist within civil society, where identities and cultural practices are negotiated. Thamma's commitment to customs reflects an identity derived from political society, but IIa's quest for autonomy and liberty represents discussions within civil society. Chatterjee's theory facilitates comprehension of how migration, generation conflicts, and cultural dualism manifest themselves in civil society. The conflict between political and civic society is reflected in Thamma's rejection of IIa's decision to live in London and her portrayal of IIa as self-centred. Thamma, who represents a political society, equates national identity with violence and sacrifice. IIa, on the other hand, advocated for independence and autonomy through talks within civil society. Identity problems within the family and broader societal changes talk within civil society. Identity problems within the family and broader societal changes are exemplified.

The novel also portrayal of generational conflict is consistent with Erik Erikson's idea of identity crisis in adolescence and early adulthood. As a character of the third generation, Ila goes through a phase of self-discovery and dedication to forge her identity. Being a first-generation person, Thamma is still affected by historical occurrences like division which shape the way she views migration and identity. His theory of identity formation is consistent with Ila's experience of cultural dualism, persecution in India, and longing for independence. She clashes with Thamma, a symbol of traditional cultural standards, revealing the difficulties people have in resolving identity disputes. The novel illustrates how cultural shifts and historical occurrences exacerbate the identity crisis that individuals of all ages face.

Born in London IIa's connection with migration is indirect. Her Indian origin and the realities of growing up in London cause her to struggle with feelings of displacement and cultural dualism. However, Thammam and IIa's relationship is not so good that IIa desires to live in London, but Thamma does not like that IIa belongs here and has no right to reside there because they gained freedom by giving blood. Therefore, as an Indian, IIa must live here rather than there. "It took those people a long time to build that country, hundreds of years and years of war and bloodshed. Everyone who lives there has earned his right to be there with blood and their son's blood. They know they're a nation because they've drawn their borders with blood" (Ghosh, 78).

However, Thamma called Ila selfish because she lives in London "She's greedy; she's gone there for money" (Ghosh, 79). The narrator protests against it that Ila has nothing in London but a middle-class life but in Calcutta, she has everything including all the luxuries " If she stayed here she would have more money than she could count in a lifetime" (Ghosh, 79). Further, she chose to live in London because of the women-dominated Indian culture, where she had no freedom.

Ila, who was born in London, never experienced the harassment she did in India. Indian culture is vastly distinct from Western culture, particularly in terms of clothes and freedom. When IIa tries to dance in the nightclub, she is harassed, but the narrator and Robi refuse to let her go since she is raised in complete freedom, and she does not listen to them, after the incident Robi states that "Girls don't behave like that here... you can do what you like in England he said. But here there are certain things you can not do. That's our culture, that's how we live here" (Ghosh, 88). It is revealed here that Robi, who is of the second generation, has a different perspective on culture. Ila follows London culture, which does not worry him, but whenever she is in India, she must follow their culture. Thamma's nationalist soul, however, does not approve of her living in London for her freedom and labels her as a whore. " It's not freedom she wants, said my grandmother, her bloodshot eyes glowing in the hollows of her withered face. She wants to be left alone to do what she pleases: that's all that any whore would want" (Ghosh, 89). The narrator said that she chose to live in London to pursue her desire for independence and freedom. However, Ila represents the hybridity of cultures brought by migration. Her complicated identity is multifaceted due to the influence of her two cultures. Ila's ambivalence and sense of cultural tension are explored in the novel as a result of her connections to both India and England. Her difficulties stand in the more general difficulties that people who live at the crossroads of various cultural contexts encounter.

Ila seeks autonomy as a way to define her individuality after growing up in a world where historical events like partition and ensuring the search for national identity have left a lasting impression. Her yearning for independence emphasizes her urge to break free from the limitations of society's expectations and explore her identity on her terms. It is a response to the cultural and political changes that have shaped her point of view. "Do you see now why I've chosen to live in London? Do you see? It's because I want to be free.... Free of you!.. Free of your bloody culture and free of all you"(Ghosh,89). Independence turns into a desire for luxury in a world where standards are being challenged and individual and societal identities must be redefined.

The novel spans decades of observing the consequences of globalization. Exposure to foreign influences has influenced the younger generation to adopt a more cosmopolitan viewpoint. The contrast with the older generation's establishment ideals contributes to generational conflicts. The narrator has no problem with Ila's attire because he is of the third generation and can accept multiple national cultures. His acceptance of Ila's clothing as an Indian which is a synthesis of several ethnic influences demonstrates a more accepting and inclusive outlook. "She looked improbably exotic to me, dressed in faded blue jeans and a T-shirt like no girl I had ever seen before except in pictures in American magazines" (Ghosh, 81). The first generation's inflexible cultural limits have given way to the third generation's capacity to negotiate and embrace a variety of cultural expressions.

Conflict with Tridib and Thamma

Tridib and Thamma's conflict in *The Shadow Lines* captures the struggle between traditionalism and a globalised perspective, which is a reflection of broader shifts in postcolonial society. As a character of the second generation who lived in both India and England, he symbolises a global vision that transcends national boundaries. His experiences serve as a metaphor for the modern, interconnected society we live in. As a character of the

first generation, Thamma adheres to cultural standards associated with a particular national identity, which is best exemplified by devotion to Dhaka.

This generational conflict is a reflection of the tension between an urban, globally affected perspective and a more traditional, backward-looking mentality. Thamma's unwillingness to adopt cosmopolitanism is a reflection of the older generation's inability to adjust to the rapidly changing cultural environment brought about by globalisation. The narrator and other younger characters traverse a world of cultural fluidity and interchange, blurring traditional cultural barriers. However, This conflict can be examined through the lens of identity negotiation using Partha Chatterjee's theories on political and civil society. Thamma's commitment to customary values is consistent with a political society perspective, whereas Tridib's global perspective is indicative of discussions within civil society. Tridib's struggle to define his identity in a world that is changing is a clear example of Erik Erikson's notion of an identity crisis, showing the difficulties people encounter in a society that is undergoing significant change. As a microcosm of the large societal changes brought about by globalisation and the changing dynamics of cultural identity, the conflict between Tridib and Thamma is depicted.

Tridib who is from the second generation is less affected directly by the partition and more globally oriented. He possesses a worldwide outlook that surpasses national borders, having resided in both India and England. His experiences and relationships portray a more contemporary and globalized. Thamma and the young generational divide represent the larger changes in postcolonial society as a result of Tridib's urban worldview challenging Thamma's more conventional and ingrained views. The conflict here represents the friction between the second generation adjusting to a more globalized and interconnected present and the older generation with its roots in the past.

Thamma clings to cultural norms and traditional values that are ingrained in a particular sense of national identity. Her unwillingness to adopt a cosmopolitan outlook is shown in her devotion to Dhaka before partition. On the other hand, the second and third generations, who grew up in a more connected and globalized world, show a desire to accept and incorporate different national traditions.

The narrative explains how the traditional cultural boundaries have become more vague due to globalization. Cultural exchange and fluidity are commonplace in the world of the younger characters, including the narrator. Further, different views of national and cultural belonging give rise to disputes as this cultural fluidity undermines the older generation's entrenched and static cultural identities. In addition, Tridib, Illa, and the narrator all migrate for various reasons. Tridib for their parents, Ila for their migrated parents, and the narrator for education. This demonstrates that everybody who travelled to London witnessed the multicultural metropolis assimilate elements of different national cultures. But before seeing London, the narrator imagines London and absorbs its multicultural culture through Tridib's stories.

To sum up this chapter, the novel illustrating the complex fallout from migration, political upheavals, and globalization, the novel Ghosh skillfully weaves the threads of generation conflict. The characters, who are divided by historical occurrences such as partition, struggle with changing cultural identities throughout three generations. The younger generations represented by Ila and the narrator, have a more global perspective than Thamma, who adheres to traditional traditions. The disputes between Thamma and Ila and Tridib and Thamma serve to underline the opposition between traditionalism and a modern perspective. The work depicts how globalisation has blurred the boundaries of culture, revealing the older generation's resistance to change. The novel illustrates how globalization causes cultural

misunderstanding and generational strife, reflecting larger changes in society. Family conflicts function as microcosms of the greater instability, which is driven more by political than by personal motivations, Evoking the tremendous impact of historical events on human lives, Amitav Ghosh's novel sensitively conveys the complex dynamics of identity, migration, and cultural disputes. However, due to the repressive Indian culture that takes away their freedom, especially for women who are victims of a patriarchal society that forces them to live or behave in a certain way the younger generation is more driven to migrate than ever before. The younger generation's fight for independence is a reaction to past pain, cultural disparities, and patriarchal society's confirmation of the significant impact of migration on intergenerational relations and personal goals.

Chapter 4: Interwoven Threads: History, Migration, and Economic Dynamics

In *The Shadow Lines* Ghosh deftly intertwined the strands of history, migration, and economic dynamics, offering a sophisticated depiction of how these factors interact to create the complexities and inequalities in the lives of its characters. The novel's portrayal of migration shows it to be a complex experience that transcends national borders rather than just a physical movement. The Characters, including Thamma, Khalil, and Saifuddin, experience the fallout from India's 1947 partition, which results in the expropriation of his family houses and steady employment. The economic turmoil is put in motion by this historical event, which also has a lasting impression on the characters's daily lives and highlights the personal cost of political actions on individuals. *The Shadow Lines* is a complicated tapestry of characters struggling with the fallout from historical events. It deftly weaves together history, migration, and economic considerations. This chapter explores the relationship between the novel and economic theories, focusing on Karl Marx, Friedrich Engels and Prabhat Patnaik.

In the postcolonial context, when the effects of the colonial past are still felt in the economy, the economic inequalities are more pronounced. The protagonist struggles with financial decision-making ambiguity because they are divided between the emotional burden that comes with relocation and the possibility of financial gain. An example of the complex choices people have to make when negotiating economic uncertainty in the wake of a historical event is Thamma's quest for economic independence. Thamma's quest for economic independence and the postcolonial environment draws attention to the large question of how historical events affect both personal struggles and financial choices. Complexities in family dynamics and financial decision-making arise from Thamma's refusal to provide financial support to the family of her deceased relative. This act emphasises the

complex interactions between individual decisions and more general economic factors, highlighting the varied perspectives that the characters have towards financial assistance.

An additional dimension of the examination of economic dynamics is introduced by Nick's story in Kuwait and London. The fact he is migrating for financial gain throws light on the large trend of labour mobility spurred by economic opportunity. As it reveals how corporate culture impacts economic narratives and individual connections, the novel becomes a platform for examining the exploitation and economic injustice faced by migrant workers. Nick's migration to Kuwait and London, motivated by an economic perspective, requires him to use his labour in a new setting. When viewed through the prism of Marx's theory, Nick's work has the value that influences the novel's depiction of the economic process. Marx argues that the labour required to produce a good determines its worth. Further, Nick's migration for financial gain is associated in terms of the theory that labour moves to places where it can be used more effectively. As the novel emphasises, a major trend in labour mobility is people moving to maximise the value of their labour, which is consistent with more general economic theories.

Further, economic narratives shaped by culture suggest that individual labour is influenced by broader structures. The novel explores the experiences of migration workers, Marx's theory offers a framework for understanding how labour can still be subjected to injustice and exploitation even in a globalised setting. The disclosure that Nick's boss dislikes him and fabricates accusations of embezzlement highlights how corporate culture shapes economic tales. "Your boss didn't like you, that he concocted charges of embezzlement against you. If he did consort them,." (Ghosh, 109). However, examining the exploitation experienced by the migrant workers is made possible by Nick's migration. The analysis of how corporate

structures may support economic injustice and exploitation of labour mobility can be aided by Marx's insights into power relations in labour settings.

In the novel "Marx's Historical materialism is profoundly manifested through the 1947 partition. According to historical materialism, the material circumstances of the era have a major impact on social structures and conflicts. The partition turns into a crucial point when political choices influence the material circumstances that affect people individually and in groups. Political actions have real and dramatic human repercussions, which Khalil's family Thamma and Saifuddin, illustrates. A symbol of economic turmoil, the loss of ancestral homes represents more than just a physical relocation. Rather than being a simple structure made of bricks and mortar, ancestral residences represent a family's identity, stability, and prosperity. The division's devastating effects on people's and communities's financial fabric are manifested in concrete form by the confiscation of these houses.

Regarding economic inequalities and class conflict, the novel shows post-partition difficulties that resonate with Marx's idea of class struggles, which portrays the continuous struggle between various socioeconomic classes. The financial challenges that the characters in the novel face are not isolated occurrences but rather represent larger social tensions.

Characters's post-partition economic hardship in East Pakistan Present time (Bangladesh) serve as an example of Marx's class struggles. The differences in money, opportunities, and social standing create a microcosm of larger societal inequalities rooted in political decisions. The financial difficulties that individuals such as Khalil and Saifuddin face are not coincidental; they are signs of a more widespread class conflict brought about by the division. The way the characters move through the post-partition economic landscape demonstrates Marx's emphasis on economic interactions as the basis of social institutions.

Marx maintained that the economic interests of the dominant classes frequently influence political decisions. In the novel political elites' choice to separate the country has economic repercussions that deepen class divines. Unknowingly entangled in this complex web of political and economic forces, the people serve as dramatic vehicles for the vivid portrayal of Marxist ideas of class struggles.

The long-lasting consequences of colonialism, in conjunction with political advancement, impact the economic structure and intensify disparities among populations and regions. The plot develops and it becomes clear the historical events and economic disparity are closely related, painting a complicated picture of how these inequalities play out in the lives of the characters. For example: Khalil endures the financial consequences. His financial hardship in East Pakistan serves as a stark reminder of how the division has affected people's capacity to maintain a stable lifestyle. Though Khalil's family is unable to pay for Jethamoshai's expenses, Khalil's wife tells Thamma to take him with her to India. Khalil's financial difficulties are reminiscent of Marxist ideas about class conflict. The incapacity to cover Jetamoshahai's costs is a reflection of the personal toll that historical events have had on people. The experience of families losing their ancestral houses and stable incomes serves as an example of devastation brought by partition in the novel. Thamma lose her Dhaka's house, and other characters Khalil, and Saifuddin also have to struggle for income in East Pakistan. "The whole house had been occupied by Muslim refugees from India - mainly people who had gone across from Bihar and U.P"(Ghosh, 134). The economic fallout from the political action was quite personal, impacting people's daily lives in addition to the macroeconomic environment. Requirements to rebuild life were particularly felt by individuals who had dealt with the migration. Further, the novel historical events that led to economic inequality are enhanced by Saifuddin's experiences. His post-partition struggles for income in East Pakistan highlight the financial difficulties experienced by those who are directly impacted by political decisions.

In addition, the Engelsian perspective in line with Marx's, emphasises historical occurrences as significant factors that shaped current economic circumstances. Engelsian ideas can be applied for instance, to Jatin migration for work purposes based on historical events for example partition. The historical events that shape economic inequalities are reflected in the expropriation of family resources as a result of migration. Engels emphasised the issue of class conflict, and the novel depicts the financial divide brought up by migration inside Jatin's family. The family's economic disparity is exacerbated by Jatin's migration and Jatin's father who already held a big position in India. Economics divisions within the familial environment give rise to insight into class struggles that are reminiscent of Engels, showing how migration can sustain economic inequality.

Engelsian viewpoints can be expanded upon to examine the long-term effects of colonialism on economic systems. The way that Ghosh depicts the long-term effects of colonialism in the novel is consistent with Engelsian theory. Colonial rule's legacy exacerbates economic disparities, demonstrating how historical events influence economic systems. He made the case that historical occurrences and economic circumstances are intertwined. The complex connection between historical occurrences such as partition and economic inequality is shown by Ghosh's novel. Economic inequalities are a result of historical events, as demonstrated by the confiscation of family resources and the post-partition fights for income.

Additionally, an Indian economist Prabhat Patnaik is renowned for his contribution to Marxist theory and political economy. Patnaik highlights the imperialistic aspect of colonialism, where economic exploitation is a crucial component, by Marxist ideals. In the novel, the economic fallout from the divide in *The Shadow Lines* illustrates the effects of colonialism. The influence of imperialist forces on the economic fabric of the impacted regions is exemplified by the economic exploitation, the loss of ancestral houses, and the income problems experienced by East Pakistan after partition. It reflects the historical events 1947 partition that generated economic turmoil. When resources were taken and the economy was set up to benefit the colonisers, imbalances were established that are mirrored in Patnaik's theory.

To sum up, this chapter deftly combines economic factors migration, and history into a tapestry that reveals the complexity of human lives. Our comprehension of the character's conflicts within the postcolonial environment is improved by examining economic ideas such as Prabhat Patnaik's insights into imperialism, Engelsian viewpoints on historical events, and Marx's labour theory of value. Nick's decision to migrate, as well as Thamma's quest for economic independence, highlights the difficulties in making decisions when with unpredictability in the economy. The migration of Jatin and the ensuring economic divide highlights the long-lasting effects of past legacies. The novel emphasises how history, migration, and economic complexities shape both communities and individuals, and it is a monument to the applicability of economic theories in illuminating these relationships. In addition, Ghosh's work offers a deep analysis of the intricacies of economics in the condition.

Prima | 64

Conclusion

In conclusion, the first chapter explains the complex terrain of post-colonial identity in *The Shadow Lines* a novel by Amitav Ghosh. It looks at how the characters deal with nationalism and ambivalence, and how migration affects their sense of self. The novel reveals the intricacies of the identity crisis resulting from historical events such as the partition of India, as seen through the perspectives of Thamma. Tridib, Ila and the narrator. Further, an effective metaphor, the "mirror image" depicts the fates of Dhaka and Calcutta entwined, representing the complex relationship between political and personal histories. Thamma reflects the ambivalence that results from navigating past shadows, serving as a mirror reflecting generational difficulties. Her story, which is firmly anchored in Dhaka before the split, emphasises the psychological cost of political choices that change cultural context.

The characters experience identity issues when borders change, nations arise, and cultural ties are reinterpreted, particularly Thamma and Ila. In line with Gayatri Spivak's perspective, the novel rejects the idea of recovering a per-colonial history. Thamma's struggle illustrates the devastating effects of colonialism on people's lives by embodying Spivak's rejection. Further, Ila's inner struggle and the narrator's journey, which is shaped by family stories, are used to examine the psychological aspects of ambivalence. The characters' complex unconscious minds are revealed under the psychoanalytic lens of Freud, which also reveals repressed memories and conflicts. Ultimately, this chapter emphasises how closely personal hardship and governmental forces are related, showing the characters as victims of more significant geopolitical events. In the complicated landscape of post-colonialism, Ghosh deftly intertwined the strands of migration, nationalism, and identity, providing a fascinating investigation of the human psyche. The novel highlights the connection between political and personal narratives in forming identities and asks readers to consider the long-lasting effects of historical events on individual lives.

The second chapter explores the complex relationships that exist between political choices, religious identities, and the aftermath of the partition in the novel. It examines how political leaders manipulated religious identities during the division to further their own goals as it traverses the historical terrain of postcolonial India. This Chapter emphasises the divide-andconquer tactics that intensified religious disputes, highlighting the complicated legacy of colonialism. The story gently highlights the personal consequences of such a choice, and the creation of Pakistan as a Muslim state shows the pervasive influence of colonial forces on post-colonial politics. The study of religion and violence reveals the human cost of intercommunal conflicts, which are eloquently depicted through Thamma's recollections and the tension within the Dhaka community. The story addresses the fallout from acts of violence motivated by religion, highlighting the deep and long-lasting repercussions these crimes have on both people and communities. The examination also looks at the forced relocation and identity dynamics that characters like Saifuddin, Khalil, and Jethamoshai go through. Their narratives shed light on the psychological toll of exile by illustrating the complex interactions between individual convictions, societal changes, and the results of political decisions. However, this chapter aims to prove that political choices, especially those based on religious dynamics, have a significant and long-lasting impact on people's lives. The novel highlights the nuanced interaction between individual beliefs and societal changes by asking readers to consider the complex relationship between political decisions, religious identity, and the long-lasting effects of communal violence.

Prima | 66

The third chapter explores the complex dynamics of intergenerational conflict brought on by globalisation, political unrest, and migration. Amitav Ghosh skillfully combines the stories of three generations, bringing to light the challenging attitudes towards cultural identity and belonging. The novel illustrates how people are profoundly affected by historical occurrences, especially the partition of India, and how difficult it is for them to come to terms with shifting identities. Characters who have been uprooted and disillusioned by political and historical changes resonate with the lost generation theme, which is evocative of the pain experienced after World War I. Ghosh emphasises the psychological cost of migration, community violence, and the search for identity, drawing comparisons with Frantz Fanon's observation about the long-lasting trauma brought on by colonial ideas. However, the narrator's family experiences generational tensions, particularly between Thamma and Ila and Tridib and Thamma. Broader cultural changes are reflected in the conflict between traditionalism and a globalised viewpoint. The novel shows how cultural borders are blurred by globalisation, leading to miscommunication and conflict. In reaction to oppressive cultural norms, especially those that affect women in patriarchal societies, the younger generation does so out of a desire for freedom and independence. Moreover, this chapter emphasises the complexities of migration, identity, and cultural conflicts by utilising family conflicts as miniature representations of larger societal shifts. The younger generation's desire for autonomy is a response to past trauma, cultural differences, and patriarchal limitations, highlighting the significant influence of migration on personal goals and relationships between generations.

Finally, the fourth chapter deftly reveals the intricacies in the lives of its protagonists by tying together the strands of history, migration, and economic forces. Amitav Ghosh adeptly utilises economic ideas authored by Marx, Engels, and Prabhat Patnaik to illuminate the complex aftermath of historical occurrences, including the 1947 partition. The novel shows how the experiences of migration combine with class conflicts, exploitation, and economic disparities to shape the lives of individuals. Nick's financial migration, Thamma's quest for financial freedom, and Jatin's family's economic inequalities are examples of how economic factors have a significant impact on social structures and decision-making. Ghosh's works provide a sophisticated examination of how history and economics resonate in the lives of individuals and communities in the post-colonial setting, demonstrating the complex connection between these two components.

The Shadow lines by Amitav Ghosh deftly negotiates the nuanced interactions between nationalism, migration, history, and economic forces. The novel reveals the enormous effects of global events on individual identities and societal institutions through a multilayered narrative viewed through the prism of several ideologies. It provides a sophisticated examination of the human mind in the post-colonial environment by deftly tying together the strands of personal struggles, generational disputes, and economic factors. The piece encourages readers to consider the complicated connections among political choices, cultural identities, and long-term effects to develop a deeper comprehension of the complexities present in the intricate fabric of human existence.

Works Cited

- Ahlawat, R. (2014). Conflict Between Illusion and Reality: A Study of Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines*. International Journal of English language, literature and Humanities, 1(V), 183-188.
- Barat, U. (1999). "Imagination and reality in *The Shadow Lines*" The Novels of Amitav Ghosh. Ed. R.K. Dhawan. New Delhi.
- Das, J. (2020). (Re)Location nationalism in the context of partition: A Reading of Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines*. *Journal of Research in Humanity and Social Science*.8(11),60-62.
- De Capitani, Lucio. (2020). Riots, Crowds and the Collective in Amitav Ghosh's Political Imagination. From *The Shadow Lines* to Gun Island.
- Dr. N. Geethanjali , R. Prema (2021). NATIONALISM IN AMITAV GHOSH'S THE SHADOW LINES, Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies, 17(4), 2797-2802
- Gera, A.(2003). "Des Kothay? Amitav Ghosh Tells Old Wives Tales." Tabish Khair, ed. Amitav Ghosh: A Critical Companion. Delhi: Permanent Black.

Ghosh, A. (1988). The Shadow Lines. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

- Guldager, M. (2017, April 21). Discursivity and nationhood in Postcolonial India: Reading beyond the binaries in selected works of Rushdie, Roy and Ghosh.
- Hassan, M.(2020). The two nation theory and the creation of Pakistan. *Asian journal of social science and management Studies*. 7(2).80-88.

 Kasikhan, Hamid & Kasikhan, Naghmeh. (2015). Postcolonial Approach to Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*. 6. 247-255. 10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n4s3p247.

Kaul, S. (1994). Separation anxiety: Growing up Inter/National in Amitav Ghosh's The

Shadow Lines. Oxford Literary Review, *16*(1), 125–145. https://doi.org/10.3366/olr.1994.005

- M Ikram, R. (2005). A comprehensive book of Pakistan studies. Lahore, Pakistan: The Caravan Book House.
- Mondal, A.A.(2003). Allegories of identity. "Poatmodem" Anxiety and "postcolonial"
 Ambivalence in Amitav Ghosh's In an Antique Land and the Shadow Lines. The Journal of Commonwealth Literature, 38(3), 19-36.
- Mondal, S. R. (2023, November 2). *The geocritical imagination: Mapping the space of frontiers, identity crisis and memories in Amitav Ghosh's The Shadow Lines*. The Literary Herald: International Journal of English and Literature.
- MONK, C. (2008). Writing the Lost Generation: Expatriate Autobiography and American Modernism on JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt20ks0g6.1</u>
- Parveen V, A. (2016). Postcolonialism: Edward Said &Gayatri Spivak. Research Journal of Recent Sciences, 5(8), 47-50.
- Peeters, E (2008). Crossing boundaries, making home: Issues of belonging and migration in Amitav Ghosh's The Shadow Lines, English Academy Review, 25:1, 29-39, doi: 10.1080/10131750802099466
- Phillips, S. (n.d.). Why was British India partitioned in 1947? considering the role of Muhammad Ali Jinnah. Faculty of History.
- Prasad, M. (2008). Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines*: Re-reading its Craft and Concerns, 2(1),70-82.
- Qasmi, A.U. (2018). A master narrative for the history of Pakistan: Tracing the origins of an ideological agenda. Modern Asian studies, 53(04), 1-40.
- Rani, A. (2022). The Pang of Partition in Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines*. International Journal for Multidisciplinary Research, 4(6), 1-7.

- Roy, B. (2014). Mapping the transition: Amitav Ghosh's *The shadow lines*. Crossroads. A Journal of English Studies, (5(2)), 16–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.15290/cr.2014.05.2.02</u>
- Said, E.W.(1989). Representing the colonized anthropology's interlocutors. Critical Inquiry, 15(2), 205-225. https://doi.org/10.1086/448481
- Sarve, A.(2021). Intra-Generational and Inter-Generational Conflict. EPRA International journal of economic growth and environmental Issues, 9(8), 14-16.
- Singh, R., & Singh, K. (2011). SECULARISM IN INDIA: CHALLENGES AND ITS FUTURE on JSTOR. *The Indian Journal of Political Science*, 501. https://doi.org/42761435
- Sing, R.(2018). Deconstructing the Discourse of Nationalism: A study of Amitav Ghosh's *The Shadow Lines*. Journal of advance and Scholarly Research in allied Education, 15(1). 1034-1042.
- Sircar, A. (1991). Individualising History: The 'Real' Self in The Shadow Lines on JSTOR. Social Scientist, 33. <u>https://doi.org/3517650</u>
- Srivastava, R, P.(2016). Thematic Considerations of Displacement and Amitav Ghosh's The Circle of Reason, The shadow lines, The glass place and the sea of poppies.International journal of English and literature (IJEL). 6(1).85-96.

Wadud, N. (2014). Amitav Ghosh's The Shadow Lines as a political Novel.